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clinically superior solutions that help healthcare professionals
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Chairman’s Letter
It is my pleasure to present the Admedus annual report for the year
ended 31 December, 2018. I would like to thank all our shareholders
for their ongoing support as we work to deliver value and create
a global, sustainable business through our innovative ADAPT®
portfolio of existing commercial products and our research and
development pipeline.
ADAPT®

Infusion

Our ground-breaking ADAPT® portfolio continues
to demonstrate significant clinical benefits. It
is the only product with data demonstrating 10
years without calcification or degradation, which
promises to be a major advantage for our future
patient treatment strategies.

Our Infusion business delivered $14.5 million in
revenue, up 2% from last year. We achieved growth
of 24% excluding the impact of our termination of the
agreement with GO Medical Industries.

All of our products are made in our state-of-the-art
manufacturing facility in Perth, which also houses our
research and development laboratory.
In 2018, a large part of revenue growth came from
ADAPT® sales, which grew 55% to $11.1 million. Most
of that growth was driven by sales in North America,
where the expanded 3D product range including
CardioCel® 3D, Cardiocel® Neo and VascuCel® was
launched in February 2018.
The Company continues to capture market share from
larger, more established competitors via superior clinical
data, increased advocacy from Key Opinion Leaders
(KOLs), and an expanding portfolio of unique products
– all of which is promising for such a new technology.
TAVR (Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement)
Building on our portfolio, we made substantial inroads
in our TAVR device development. The market for
TAVR is expected to be worth $US12 billion by 2025.
Based on evidence to date, Admedus’ 3D single-piece
aortic valve is different to anything currently in the
market. The development program has made excellent
progress and generated valuable insights this year. We
achieved a key durability benchmark, lodged several
patents and implanted five sheep as part of our interim
feasibility study.
This study generated very positive interim data, which
gives us the confidence to move ahead into planning
our first-in-human trial earlier than expected. The news
flow and partnering strategy has the potential to add
value to Admedus over the coming year and beyond.
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Investments and financials
For the 12 months to December 31, 2018, our revenue
grew by 20% to $25.6 million. Gross profit was $12.4
million, representing a gross profit margin of 49%.
This was driven partly by the ADAPT® portfolio,
which delivered year-on-year growth of 55% to $11.1
million. Revenue from the Infusion business was $14.5
million. Our net loss after tax was $24.7 million. Costs
as a percentage of revenue for ADAPT® have been
declining from 205% at the time of the restructure.
They fell to 144% in 2017 and to 122% in 2018.
In 2018, we raised $35.4 million (before transaction
costs) in new capital and welcomed Star Bright
Holdings Ltd and SIO Capital Management LLC to
our Registry. The investment in the Company by these
major investors will drive the development and success
of Admedus.
I’d also like to thank our existing shareholders who
supported our rights issue late last year. I acknowledge
that it has been a difficult year for our investors, but I
want to reassure them that we are carefully managing
our resources to ensure the sustainability of Admedus.
In April, we also signed a letter of intent with
Star Bright to fund the Admedus Vaccines business.
The funding will ensure that important research into
preventative treatments and vaccines for various
diseases and cancers continues.
Leadership changes
We made several leadership changes to our Board in
2018, including adding Mr Steve Denaro as Company
Secretary and as a Non-Executive Director. In October,
we welcomed Dr Wenyi Gu to our board as Non-

“

I want to reinforce our
commitment to building a
sustainable business for the future,
which will deliver benefits to
patients around the world and drive
value for our shareholders.

”

Executive Director, followed by Ms Lishan Zhang and
Dr Yanheng Wu in December. Dr Gu, Ms Zhang and
Dr Wu have multiple interests in medical technology.
All our new board members are committed to our
strategic vision to deliver innovative health solutions
and subsequent shareholder value.
In 2018 we also welcomed new management team
members: Dr Kiran Bhirangi as Chief Medical Officer
and Mr Matthew McDonnell as Interim Chief Financial
Officer. Further, in March 2019 Ms Martha Engel
commenced as the group’s General Counsel and in
April 2019 Ms Angela Frisinger was promoted
to Admedus’ Global Head of Human Resources.
All of our appointees have strengthened our
Company with their respective expertise, and I look
forward to working with them throughout 2019.
Finally, I want to reinforce our commitment to
building a sustainable business for the future, which
will deliver benefits to patients around the world and
drive value for our shareholders. We remain focused
on managing the cost base. We will ensure we are
positioned to capitalise on the momentum in our
business. We are committed to strong corporate
governance and engaging with all of our investors.

ADAPT® Revenue

$11.1m

YOY Growth 55%

We look forward to updating you further on our
progress throughout 2019 as we continue to innovate
around our ADAPT® technology, grow revenues and
reward our stakeholders.

Infusion Revenue

$14.5m

John Seaberg
Chairman
Admedus Limited

YOY Growth 2%
Strong underlying growth
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Milestones
2018
JULY
»»Admedus signs new
distribution agreement for Italy

APRIL

»»MAJOR MILESTONE:
Admedus commences its animal trial
with first successful live implantation
of its single-piece aortic valve

»»Admedus
submits new IP
applications for its
TAVR device
»»Key investor,
Star Bright,
signs letter of
intent to fund
Immunotherapy
business
MARCH
»»Admedus receives
regulatory approval to
introduce CardioCel 3D®
and VascuCel® in Canada

MAY
»»Admedus secures a distribution agreement
with Cardiva to distribute ADAPT® in
Spain and Portugal
»»Admedus files three provisional patent
applications for the TAVR R&D project
»»Admedus secures funding through further
investment via new institutional investors
»»Admedus signs agreement to commence
TAVR animal trials in leading European
reference laboratory

»»Admedus enters into
agreement with a Group
Purchasing Organisation in
the US to promote ADAPT®
products to 1,500 hospitals
»»Admedus TAVR project
passes testing milestone
– achieving a durability
benchmark of 200 million
cycle tests

AUGUST
»»Distribution
agreement with
Summit Medical
Products Inc.
renewed for the
Infusion supply chain
»»Admedus secures
Star Bright as
strategic investor

JUNE
»»Memorandum of understanding
signed with Star Bright to
secure long-term funding for
Admedus Vaccines
»»Admedus secures funding through
further investment via a share
purchase plan and the Directors
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2019
APRIL
»»Ms Angela Frisinger
is promoted to
Admedus’ Global Head
of Human Resources

NOVEMBER
»»Admedus launches pro-rata
renounceable entitlement offer

FEBRUARY

»»Mr Matthew McDonnell
is appointed interim CFO

OCTOBER
»»Mr Steve Denaro
is appointed
Non-Executive Director
and Company Secretary

“

»»Positive interim data from
TAVR feasibility study

The European and emerging markets regions have also
benefited from the Company’s expanding portfolio, with new
distribution agreements signed in Spain, Portugal and Italy.

”

MARCH
»»CardioCel 3D® and VasculCel®
receives regulatory approval
in Europe

SEPTEMBER

»»Ms Martha Engel is appointed
as General Counsel

»»Admedus secures funding
through further investment
via Star Bright
DECEMBER

»»Dr Khiran Bhirangi is appointed Chief Medical Officer
»»Ms Lishan Zhang and Dr Yanheng Wu are appointed
as Non-Executive Directors
»»Admedus completes its entitlement offer raising gross
funds of $19 million

7

Admedus January – December 2018

Review of Operations
In 2018, our ADAPT® business was at a record high.
We have a suite of commercial products with growing
sales, driven by a world-class, high-performing sales
team, new distribution partners, growing acceptance
from KOLs and surgeons, and promising data from
our Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement (TAVR)
study. We also welcomed new strategic investors
who are committed to Admedus and our novel
technologies. Our revenue climbed 20% from
the previous year for the group and rose 55% for
ADAPT® products. Costs declined as a percentage
of overall sales for the ADAPT® business to 122%,
compared to 205% at the time of the restructure.
The cost base is being impacted by the negative effect
of the exchange rate, which translates to greater than
30% increases on the cost base when reflected in
Australian dollars. However, revenues have increased
81% since the 2016 restructure while headcount
remained stable with about 85 people globally.
This follows the restructure we started in 2016 that set
a new strategic direction for the Company including
record revenue growth. Although it has been a difficult
year for investors, we are working to increase the longterm value of the Company.
ADAPT®, our clinically superior regenerative tissue
technology, is the cornerstone of our growth strategy
and has established Admedus as an emerging leader
in the space. It includes the existing portfolio and
products in development like TAVR. We have seen
an escalation in interest as more KOLs increase their
utilisation of our products.
In North America, we officially launched
CardioCel 3D® and received regulatory approval
in Canada for CardioCel 3D® and VasculCel®. All
of these developments increased the visibility and
credibility of our clinically superior ADAPT® products.
The European and emerging markets regions have
also benefited from the Company’s expanding
8

portfolio, with new distribution agreements signed in
Spain, Portugal and Italy.
The TAVR Project progressed considerably throughout
2018. We commenced our first interim animal
study, which is already showing promising results.
Echocardiographic data from our first four animals has
shown an Effective Orifice Area (EOA) of 2-2.5cm².
The EOA is an important factor in enabling the flow
of blood through the valve. As such, our TAVR device
may be ideally indicated for younger, more active
patients now receiving TAVR therapy.
Our early results suggest that the device can be
implanted safely and has the potential to deliver
meaningful clinical benefits. By using our ADAPT®
tissue, this would be the only product of its kind
in the TAVR market that is expected to be worth
$US12 billion by 2025.
Thanks to our staff, from senior leadership to our global
sales teams on the ground, our sales have grown.
In the first half of 2018, we recruited several new
members to our North American sales team, which has
been instrumental in driving our success in this market.
Our leadership and sales team in Europe drove
increased engagement with KOLs and reactivated
former customers and signed new customers.
Looking forward, we have entered 2019 in a stronger
position financially. The Company delivered revenue
of $25.6 million, which was up 20% on the prior year.
This was largely driven by ADAPT® with revenue
growing by 55%, which is significantly higher than
cost growth. The EBITDA loss was $20.7 million.
The closing cash balance at the end of 2018 was
$12 million, up from $8.3 million in 2017.
Selling, general and administration expenses totalled
$34.3 million, which included R&D and related costs
of $6.7 million. The Company was affected by the
falling Australian dollar. The shift of our employee
base to the US added 39% to the current Australian
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“

Our ultimate goal is to increase the
long-term value of the Company
and, ultimately, drive value creation
for investors.

”

dollar cost. However, the US represents 45% of the
global health care market and is instrumental to the
future of the Company.
We also completed capital raising activities totalling
$35.4 million (before transaction costs). This included
funding through a Share Purchase Plan; strategic
investment from Hong Kong-based investor Star Bright
Holdings Ltd, which raised $7.7 million; and a partially
underwritten renounceable pro-rata entitlement offer,
which raised $19 million.
Additionally, we welcomed former KPMG partner
Mr Matthew McDonnell as interim CFO, Dr Kiran
Bhirangi as Chief Medical Officer and Ms Martha Engel
as General Counsel to the Admedus team. Further,
in April 2019 Ms Angela Frisinger was promoted to
Admedus’ Global Head of Human Resources.
I’ve had the pleasure of working closely with all these
individuals. Their expertise in their respective fields
is a real boom for Admedus.
The developments over the past year form a solid
base for sustainable business growth. However, our
ultimate goal is to increase the long-term value of
the Company and, ultimately, drive value creation for
investors. We’ll achieve this by continuing to build
ADAPT® and the Company into a commercially
competitive, sustainable global business.
I’d also like to thank our Board and staff for their
tireless support during this period. We look forward
to providing further updates on our progress at our
upcoming AGM.

Wayne Paterson
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Admedus Limited

Admedus
Revenue

$25.6m
+20% YOY

Gross Profit

$12.4m
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Board of Directors

John Seaberg

Wayne Paterson

Mr Seaberg has significant experience in cardiovascular
products and markets. From 2008 until its sale to
Baxter in 2012, Mr Seaberg served as Chairman of the
Board of Synovis Inc (NASDAQ:SYNO), a Minneapolisbased manufacturer of various medical devices and bio
scaffold tissue products.

Mr Paterson has held numerous senior positions in
multinational pharmaceutical companies and has lived
in seven countries during the past 25 years. Throughout
his career, he has been responsible for building and
managing multi-billion-dollar businesses throughout the
world, including; mergers, integrations, acquisitions and
major restructures as President and CEO.

Chairman

From 2007 until 2014 he was Founder, Chairman and
CEO of NeoChord Inc., a venture capital-backed
company commercialising technology developed at
the Mayo Clinic for the repair of the mitral valve via
minimally invasive techniques.
From 1996 to 2006, Mr Seaberg served at Guidant
Corp (subsequently acquired by Boston Scientific
Corp) where he served in various executive level
positions including Director of Bradycardia Marketing
for Cardiac Rhythm Management, Vice President of
Sales for Cardiac Surgery and Vice President of Sales
for Cardiac Rhythm Management.
In 1991, Mr Seaberg co-founded ACIST Medical and
served as its first President and CEO. He was also
the founder and CEO of Seaberg Medical, a regional
distributor of implantable cardiovascular devices.
He lives in Minneapolis and holds a Bachelor of Arts
in Speech Communications from the University of
Minnesota and a Masters in Business Administration
(MBA) from the Carlson School of Management, also
at the University of Minnesota.
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Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer

From 2005 to 2013 he held senior positions at Merck
Kgaa, including President of Europe, Canada and
Australia. Prior to this, Mr Paterson was President of
Emerging Markets, President of Japan and Global
Head of Cardiovascular medicine.
Between 1999 and 2005, Mr Paterson served at Roche
Pharmaceuticals where he was most recently Head of
Pharmaceuticals in Roche’s South Korean operation.
He also served as Head of Commercial Operations for
Roche China based in Shanghai.
He holds an MBA, University of Southern Queensland
and a degree in Business Studies from the Queensland
University of Technology. He has also studied business
courses North Western University (Kellog School
of Management) Chicago, IMD Business School
in Switzerland, INSEAD in France and Hong Kong
University of Technology.
He served as Non-Executive Director of Cepheid
Inc (NASDAQ:CHPD) from April 2015 to November
2016. Mr Paterson is Australian national and resides in
Minneapolis, USA.

Stephen Denaro

Dr Wenyi Gu

Mr Denaro has more than 30 years’ of senior level
and Board level experience across publicly-listed
companies, serving as Chief Financial Officer,
Company Secretary and Director. He brings a depth of
experience in managing compliance with finance and
accounting regulatory requirements. He has managed
investment acquisitions and subsequent funding
(domestic and international).

Dr Gu currently works as a Research Fellow for
the Australian Institute for Bioengineering and
Nanotechnology at the University of Queensland
where he began his post-doctoral work in 2001.

Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary

Mr Denaro has a strong interest in start-up companies.
He provides company secretarial services to ASX-listed
(Anatara Lifesciences Limited “ASX: ANR”, Oventus
Medical Limited “ASX: OVN” and from February 2019
Novita Healthcare Limited “ASX: NHL”) and unlisted
public companies.
He is also a Non-Executive Director and Chair of the
Audit & Risk Committee of a not for profit company,
National Affordable Housing Consortium Limited.
He has a Bachelor of Business in Accountancy, a
Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance
and is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia & New Zealand and the
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Non-Executive Director

Before engaging in nanomedicine (focusing on drug
delivery and cancer therapy), he worked on RNAibased gene therapy for several years at Translational
Research Institute. Dr Gu’s research has been
extensively published in respected industry journals
such as Nature Communications, Ad. Materials, ACS
Nano and PNAS USA. He is a Nominee Non-Executive
Director for major shareholder, Star Bright Holding Ltd.
Dr Gu holds a master’s degree in veterinary science
and completed his PhD study in biochemistry and
molecular biology at Australian National University
and later worked at John Curtin Medical School. He
also held a Peter Doherty Fellowship (2006-2009) and
was supported by the National Health and Medical
Research Council to work at Harvard Medical School,
Harvard University as a visiting fellow.
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Board of Directors

Lishan Zhang

Dr Yanheng Wu

Ms Zhang is a successful businessperson and
entrepreneur and has extensive executive experience
across strategy, development and financial oversight.

Dr Wu currently serves as President and Vice-chair of
Constellation International Group Holdings Ltd. Dr Wu
also established Guangzhou Hearty-Care Biotechnology
Ltd., a medical technology company now owned by
Constellation International Group Holdings Ltd.

Non-Executive Director

She currently serves as the Chair of Constellation
International Group Holdings Ltd. and as Vice-Chair
of Guangzhou Hearty-Care Biotechnology Ltd.
Constellation International Group Holdings Ltd. is a
medical technology holding company that focusses on
several areas, including vaccines technology, biological
immunotherapy, nanotechnology, biomedical materials
and minimally invasive tumour treatments.
Ms Zhang’s business interests are primarily global
asset and equity investments. She is also the owner
of Star Bright, a Hong Kong-based private investment
company with interests in the medical and healthcare
industry, and a mission to support the long-term
development of global medical care to help patients in
need. Star Bright is an Admedus shareholder.
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Non-Executive Director

Dr Wu completed his PhD in tumour immunotherapy
and nanocarrier technology at The University of
Queensland. He holds multiple biomedical patents
and is well published domestically and internationally.
Before commencing his PhD, he worked at Sun Yatsen University Cancer Center as a researcher. He also
holds a Bachelor of Clinical Medicine from Guangzhou
Medical University.
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Executive Management Board
David St Denis

Chief Operating Officer
Mr St Denis is an accomplished senior healthcare leader with a
systematic and metrics-driven approach spanning 20 years of proven
business results at the regional and global levels within the life sciences
and pharmaceutical sectors.
Most recently at Merck in Germany, he headed commercial operations for
Europe and Canada. He has an extensive track record in charge of complex
cross functional and multi-cultural teams that have achieved impressive
business objectives in both mature markets (US, Europe, Japan) and
developing markets (Brazil, Russia, India, China and Mexico).
His core competencies include operations management, strategy
development, marketing and sales, new product introduction and launch
excellence, market access and pricing.
Mr St Denis has a Bachelor of Science from the University of Connecticut,
a Masters of Arts from Boston University and an MBA in Global Management
and International Marketing from Babson College – Franklin W. Olin
Graduate School of Business.
Dr Kiran Bhirangi
Chief Medical Officer
Dr Bhirangi is a qualified vascular surgeon and brings substantial global
leadership in medical affairs and clinical research in the field of cardiology.
He has a deep and thorough knowledge of complex international regulatory
and reimbursement environments, having worked across the entire spectrum
of device development, launch and evaluation. Previously, he was VP Clinical
Development and Medical Affairs for Cardiome AG, Head of Medical
Affairs for Europe Shire Human Genetic Therapies and Medical Director at
OrthoBiotech, a Johnson and Johnson company.
He has a Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery and Master of Surgery
from Bombay University and Fellowship of the Royal College of Surgeons
in Ireland. He is widely published and has conducted extensive industrysponsored research.
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Executive Management Board
Matthew McDonnell

Interim Chief Financial Officer
Mr McDonnell worked for KPMG for over 24 years’ including 10 years
as a partner. He has a broad range of industry experience and corporate
governance acumen, having delivered audit, accounting, and advisory
services to a broad range of sectors.
During his time at KPMG he worked predominantly in Australia covering
financial services, transport, industrial markets, health, childcare and energy.
He has experience in restructures, acquisitions divestments, privatisations and
other significant financial transactions.
He was notably involved in Queensland Government restructures and
privatisations; Linc Energy’s re-listing on the Singapore Exchange,
acquisitions such as Virgin Australia’s purchase of Skywest. He was also
Director of the State Library of Queensland and was the Chair of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for eight years.
Martha Engel
General Counsel
In March 2019 Ms Martha Engel commenced as the group’s General
Counsel. As a registered patent attorney in the US, Ms Engel has over a
decade of legal experience providing advice to companies ranging from
medical device manufacturers to craft breweries on all aspects of intellectual
property law. She also has a well-rounded legal background on corporate,
regulatory, and business transactions. Ms Engel was named an Up & Coming
Attorney of the Year by Minnesota Lawyer in 2018. Prior to joining Admedus,
she was a partner at the US law firm of Winthrop & Weinstine.
After college, Ms Engel worked in corporate quality at Harley-Davidson
Motor Company’s headquarters, applying process improvement
methodologies to all areas of the business. She also was an engineer
at Falk Corporation, where she designed gearing & power transmission
systems for mining, manufacturing, and transportation applications.
Ms Engel has a Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering from
Marquette University and a Juris Doctor from William Mitchell College
of Law. She is licensed to practice law in Minnesota and the United States
Patent & Trademark Office.
Angela Frisinger
Global Head of Human Resources
Ms Frisinger was recently promoted to Admedus’ Global Head of Human
Resources. She joined Admedus over a year ago bringing with her over 17 years
of extensive human resources experience in diverse industries globally with a
background in supply chain, operations, sales, marketing and consulting.
In Ms Frisinger’s past roles, she was a key contributor to M&A activities,
employment law and workforce planning. Most recently, she has held key
management and operational positions at Cargill, St. Jude Medical and
later Abbott.
Ms Frisinger has gained credentials in strategic workforce planning,
leadership assessment and talent management. She holds a bachelor’s
degree in Marketing from the University of Wisconsin and has also studied
master’s courses at University of St. Thomas in Minnesota.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Your Directors present their report on Admedus Limited (“the Company”) and the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the
Group) for the period ended 31 December 2018.
The Company changed its financial year-end from 30 June to 31 December at 31 December 2017. This change more closely aligned
Admedus’ reporting period with its global business sales cycles, assisting with forecasting, cash flow management and investment
decisions. The Company is therefore reporting on the year ended 31 December 2018. The comparative accounting period in this
report will be for the 6-month period from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017, in line with the previous released financial report.
DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company in office during the period ended 31 December 2018 and until the date of this report are as follows.
Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.
•

John Seaberg

•

Wayne Paterson

•

Stephen Denaro (Appointed 31 October 2018)

•

Dr Wenyi Gu (Appointed 4 October 2018)

•

Dr Yanheng Wu (Appointed 12 December 2018)

•

Lishan Zhang (Appointed 12 December 2018)

•

Simon Buckingham (Resigned 4 October 2018)

•

Catherine Costello (Appointed 23 May 2018, resigned as Director on 27 October 2018)

•

Mathew Ratty (Resigned 20 May 2018)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the period, the principal activities of the Group consisted of:
•
•

The sale, distribution, maintenance and implementation of infusion solutions to major hospitals and health facilities
in Australia and New Zealand;
The manufacturing, sale and distribution of proprietary ADAPT® regenerative tissue products globally; and

•

Continued research and development of regenerative medicine and immunotherapies.

OPERATING RESULT
The operating result for the period:

Revenue
Loss for the period

CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO

6 MONTHS TO

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2018
$

2017
$

25,601,097

11,305,079

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid during the period and the Board has not recommended the payment of a dividend.
SHARE CAPITAL
589,941,088 ordinary shares, 237,052,479 listed options, 12,314,215 unlisted options and 10,568,799 unlisted warrants were on issue
as at 31 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Group Overview
Admedus Limited is a global medical technologies company delivering clinically superior solutions that help healthcare professionals
create life-changing outcomes for patients. Our focus is on investing in and developing next generation technologies with world class
partners, to grow product and service offerings and expanding revenues for our existing, successful medical sales and distribution
business. The Company has assets from research and development through clinical development as well as sales, marketing and
distribution.
During the reporting period, the Company has continued to build its sales and marketing function across both the ADAPT®
regenerative tissue product portfolio and the infusion business as we target becoming a sustainable business with growing profits
and returns for shareholders.
Review of Operations
Revenues from ordinary activities for the year ended 31 December 2018 were $25,601,097 (2017: $11,305,079 for the 6 months to
31 December 2017). During the period, both the ADAPT® and Infusion business units performed strongly.
ADAPT® achieved revenues of $11,068,761 for 2018 compared to $3,796,591 for the 6 months to 31 December 2017. This overall
growth was largely driven by sales in North America, which is the first market where the expanded 3D product range, including
CardioCel® 3D, CardioCel® Neo and VascuCel®, was launched in February 2018.. The recruitment of a new sales team, in the first half
of the year, and the contribution of the new and leading-edge CardioCel® 3D products have seen Admedus continue to build market
share in the region. The implementation of a corporate accounts strategy targeting major US group purchasing organisations is also
yielding results.
The European business turned around, returning to growth in the second half of 2018. Overall growth in Europe was impacted by
delays in regulatory approvals for CardioCel® 3D and VascuCel®. Despite this, sales momentum in Europe continued to grow in the
third and fourth quarter, as a result of the new leadership and sales team in this region who have been effective in driving increased
engagement with key opinion leaders (KOLs) as well as reactivating and signing new customers. New distribution agreements have
been executed in Spain, Portugal and Italy which have also contributed to increased sales in the second half of the year.
Sales in emerging markets have risen significantly, as a result of new regulatory approvals in the Philippines, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia
and Kuwait. New product launches, including CardioCel® in Vietnam and CardioCel® 3D in the United Arab Emirates, has
contributed to increased sales in these existing geographies.
The Infusion business delivered sales of $14,532,336 for the 2018 year, ($7,508,488 for the 6 months ended 31 December 2017). The
performance over the year reflected strong underlying growth substantially offsetting the impact of the conclusion of the relationship
with GO Medical Industries Pty Ltd (Go Medical). On a like for like comparison removing the impact of GO Medical, the business grew
organically by 24% over the prior comparative period.
During the year, Infusion completed the renewal of our exclusive distribution agreement with Summit Medical. This agreement
extends our distribution rights for an eight-year period. The Infusion business continues to assess new product opportunities to
strengthen the portfolio and its revenue potential.
Gross profit for the Group for the year was $12,438,499 representing a gross profit margin of 49%, compared to a margin of 59% for
the prior 6 month period. This reduction in margin reflects higher direct product costs associated with sales for the ADAPT® and
Infusion businesses compared to the prior period.
Selling, general and administration expenses was $34,291,462 for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: $14,541,863 for the 6
months to 31 December 2017) primarily driven by higher employee costs associated with increased head count to drive revenue
growth, higher research and development costs, adverse foreign exchange movements and a number of one-off expenses related to
restructuring the Company and the development of our global footprint.
The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax for the 2018 year was $24,698,678 (2017: $8,828,576 for 6 months).
During the period the Company continued its focus on executing initiatives resulting from its strategic review to deliver revenue
growth and work towards driving the business on a more sustainable path towards profitability and positive operating cash flows.
Research and Development
The TAVR (transcatheter aortic valve replacement) project continued to progress ahead of schedule, with several milestones
delivered during the year, including the commencement of a feasibility study in sheep, continual enhancements of the product, and
the filing of additional patents. To date, the feasibility trial has shown that the Admedus TAVR valve has an EOA (effective orifice
area) of up to 2.5 cm². The EOA, which is an important factor in enabling the flow of blood, is significant as currently available valves
have an EOA of 1.6 to 2 cm². The Company has confirmed that it could initiate a first-in-human trial earlier than expected. The
Company is also continuing its partnership strategy, commencing engagement with KOLs and potential target partners.
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Capital Management
Over the year the Company raised $31,711,580 in capital funds (being gross proceeds of $35,410,796 with associated transaction
costs of $3,699,216), covering the following transactions:

•

In May 2018 the Company completed a Share Placement of $6,000,000 via the issue of 20,000,000 shares. This
included 2,333,333 shares purchased by Admedus Company Directors for $700,000.

•

In June 2018 a further $2,761,072 was raised from the issue of 9,203,575 shares under a Share Purchase Plan offered to existing
investors.

•

In August and September 2018 Hong Kong based strategic investor, Star Bright Holding Ltd (together with its associates) (“Star
Bright”) increased its interest in the Company through their purchase of an additional 68,889,502 shares for $7,685,527.
In addition, Admedus entered into a $5,000,000 unsecured loan facility with Star Bright which was used to repay the existing
term loan from Partners for Growth (PFG).
In November 2018 the Company announced a pro rata renounceable partially underwritten entitlement offer. The
offer reflected 5 new fully paid ordinary shares for each 7 shares currently held with an attaching option for each new share
issued. The attached options were listed with an exercise price of $0.08 and a three year exercise period. Following the
close of the offer on 13 December 2018, Admedus issued 237,052,479 new shares and 237,052,479 new options raising
gross funds of $18,964,197. Part of these funds were used to repay the $5,000,000 loan from Star Bright.

•

Financial Position
The closing cash position for the period was $12,036,301, up from $8,254,823 at 31 December 2017.
Net working capital (current assets less current liabilities) increased by $6,529,959 during the year largely driven by capital raisings
of $31,711,580 (net of transaction costs); offset by the repayment of the PFG secured debt facility of $5,000,000, and operational
and research and development expenditures for the ADAPT® business. The Group had no borrowings at the end of the financial year.
Cash Flow
The net cash inflow during the period was $3,781,478 reflecting:

•

Operating cash out flows of $22,205,313 including $3,373,000 for research and development expenditure for ADAPT, primarily
related to the TAVR (transcatheter aortic valve replacement) project which includes ongoing trials and the filing of additional
patents;

•

Investing cash out flows of $1,011,218 relating to capital purchases and a deferred settlement payment in relation to the Regen
acquisition.

•

Financing cash inflows of $27,149,260 reflecting net proceeds from capital raising activities of $32,342,116 over the year;
Admedus entering into a $5,000,000 million unsecured loan facility with Star Bright to repay the existing term loan from PFG;
and the subsequent repayment of this Star Bright loan, through the use of funds received from the renounceable rights issue
of shares at the end of the year.

Material Business Risks
The Group has identified the below specific risks which could impact upon its prospects.
Commercial risk
As with all businesses there is always a commercial risk that not all customers will use your product, or that competing products are
used in preference to the Company’s product and therefore 100% market penetration is uncommon. With ADAPT® now on the
market in the US, Europe, Canada, India, Hong Kong, Malaysia, New Zealand, the Middle East and Singapore, the Company continues
to progress its global coverage for the product and build market penetration and product awareness. During the year the Company
has continued to build on improving market messaging, sales force optimisation and bring new ADAPT® products to market with a
focus to build market penetration and market expansion, resulting in a reduced commercial risk.
Admedus has numerous ongoing R&D and product development programs in both its bio-scaffold and therapeutic immunotherapies
areas to further develop the technologies. The development of additional bio-scaffold products such as CardioCel® Neo, VascuCel®
and CardioCel® 3D reinforces the quality of the ADAPT® platform technology, as well as reducing the commercial risk by having an
increased number of products on the market.
The Group currently maintains a range of patents across the various technologies and continues to monitor these patents, as well as
explore new patents based on the R&D currently being undertaken by the Company.
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Material Business Risks (continued)
Clinical trial risk
The development of innovative products in the biomedical and healthcare industries will always have an element of risk associated
with it. Admedus is working with Professor Ian Frazer and his team to develop therapeutic vaccines with one programme having
completed two clinical studies, and the second programme having commenced a Phase 1 clinical study, which is due for completion
in the coming financial year. In addition, Admedus continues to develop products from its ADAPT® platform technology, albeit derisking, because of the lead product ADAPT® being on market and actively used in patients. Because of these ongoing activities there
is an inherent risk associated with clinical studies and R&D and it is subject to many factors beyond the Company’s control. The
Company continuously monitors the progress of these studies and aims to manage these risks.
Competition
Admedus actively monitors its markets and the activities of potential competing products. As a Company, we feel it is highly likely
that other companies and organisations may be trying to develop competing products. Admedus believes that its platform
technologies and products have clear advantages over other technologies and products and continues to undertake activities to
further illustrate and explore these advantages and benefits.
Regardless of the diligent activities of the Admedus team, there is no assurance that the Group’s competitors will not succeed in
developing technologies that compete with the Admedus technologies.
Despite the existence of a general statutory framework in Australia and international conventions which are intended to protect
against certain anti-competitive practices, there can be no assurance that the applicable laws will be enforced sufficiently to protect
the Group from anti-competitive practices by its competitors or that major competitors will not use their strategic positions to gain
a competitive advantage in some future period, whether by means of price reductions or by other means.
Financial performance
The ability of the Company and the Group to continue as a going concern and fund the path to profitability is dependent upon securing
additional funds in the coming months from amongst a range of sources/opportunities including issuing new equity, securing long term
debt, partnerships and divesting assets. The Directors believe that the Company and Group has the ability to raise additional funds.
Notwithstanding the above factors, as a company moving towards profitability is dependent upon continuing support from current
shareholders, should the Company and the Group not receive the forecast cash inflows and additional funding referred to above there
are material uncertainties as to whether the Company and the Group will be able to continue as a going concern and therefore, whether
they will realise their assets and extinguish their liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial
report.
Intellectual property
The Group’s success will depend, in part, on its ability to obtain adequate and valid patent protection, maintain trade secret
protection and operate without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties or having third parties circumvent the Group’s rights.
Admedus prepares files and maintains patents in countries relevant to the use and manufacturing of products using our technologies.
Staff
Admedus’ success is dependent on the skills and abilities of its employees. To encourage a motivated, engaged and expert workforce,
the Company strives to create a positive culture underpinned by its AORTIC values and alignment to strategic objectives. Competition
for skilled employees can be intense and there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to retain its key managerial, R&D, and
technical employees or that it will be able to attract and retain additional highly qualified personnel in the future. The inability to
attract and retain the necessary personnel could have a material and adverse effect upon the Group’s business, results of operations
and financial condition. To mitigate this risk, Admedus provides incentive and engagement opportunities as appropriate.
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Likely Developments
Outlook
During 2018 the Company continued its evolution with the delivery of several key initiatives and increased investment in long-term
strategic projects. We look forward to leveraging these developments and building on the momentum that’s currently driving us
forward as a bankable, sustainable business.
In 2019 we are committed to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Significant growth of the CardioCel® product portfolio with reinvigorated sales teams and new opportunities in the
US, EU and emerging markets.
Continuing our partnership strategy to advance the development of our TAVR device.
Expansion of ADAPT® into emerging markets such as India, Taiwan and Japan.
Investing in continuous improvement initiatives in our manufacturing operation to improve efficiency, reduce costs
and maximise margins and yields.
Ensuring a financially strong and stable business through detailed planning, responsible management and
transparency of strategy and outcomes.
Continuing with the planned divestiture of the Immunotherapies business.

Business Strategies
The Group’s business strategies to achieve the above goals include:
•
•
•

Actively seeking co-development partners for our TAVR device, ideally with global cardiac device companies.
Technology enablement programs to enable and equip the sales teams and management with timely, accurate and
insightful information.
Infusion business to focus on capturing new large accounts, increasing its brand presence.

•

Continue to develop the patient-centric narrative around the ADAPT® message and its advantages for patients and
surgeons.

•

Grow ADAPT® market penetration and sales through an enhanced product range targeting separate segments of the
cardiovascular market, a new/expanded sales force put in place in US and EU and a more focused and strategic sales
methodology applied.

•

Apply a disciplined and conservative approach to expenditure relative to sales growth.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the financial
period not otherwise disclosed in this report and the Financial Statements.
EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial period and the date of this report any item, transaction or event
of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the
Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Company is subject to environmental regulation and other licences due to its research, development and manufacturing. The
Company complies with all relevant Federal, State and Local environmental regulations. The Board is not aware of any breach of
applicable environmental regulations by the Company.
GREENHOUSE GAS AND ENERGY DATA REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
The Group have reviewed the reporting requirements of both the Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 and the National
Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 and the Group is not currently subject to any reporting obligations.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
The name of the Directors holding office during the period ended 31 December 2018 are set out below, together with details of
Directors’ experience, qualifications, special responsibilities and other listed company directorships during the past three financial
years.
Mr Wayne Paterson - Executive Director - Chief Executive Officer
Experience and expertise
Mr Paterson has been a Director of Admedus since 10 October 2014. Mr Paterson has held
numerous senior positions in multi-national pharmaceutical companies and has lived in
seven countries during the past 25 years. Throughout his career, he has been responsible for
building and managing multi-billion dollar businesses throughout the world, including
mergers, integrations, acquisitions and major restructures as President and CEO.
From 2005 to 2013 Mr Paterson held senior positions at Merck Kgaa, most recently as
President of Europe, Canada and Australia. Prior to this, Mr Paterson was President of
Emerging Markets, President of Japan and Global Head of Cardiovascular medicine.
Between 1999 and 2005, Mr Paterson served at Roche Pharmaceuticals where he was most
recently Head of Pharmaceuticals in Roche’s South Korean operation. He also served as Head
of Commercial Operations for Roche China based in Shanghai.

Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years
Special responsibilities
Interests in shares and options

Mr Paterson is an Australian national and resides in Minneapolis, Minnesota, United States
of America.
MBA, University of Southern Queensland and Business Studies from the Queensland
University of Technology.
Cepheid Inc (NASDAQ:CHPD) from April 2015 to November 2016.
Chief Executive Officer
Ordinary shares in Admedus Ltd
Unlisted options over ordinary shares in Admedus Ltd
Listed options over ordinary shares in Admedus Ltd

916,667
1,535,630
700,000

Mr John Seaberg - Independent Non-Executive Director - Chairman
Experience and expertise
Mr Seaberg has been an independent Non-Executive Director of Admedus since 10 October
2014. He was appointed as Deputy Chair on 16 June 2016 and Chair on 14 March 2017.
From 2008 until its sale to Baxter in 2012, Mr Seaberg served as Chairman of the Board of
Synovis Inc (NASDAQ:SYNO), a Minneapolis based manufacturer of various medical devices
and bio scaffold tissue products.
From 2007 until 2014 he was Founder, Chairman and CEO of NeoChord Inc., a venture capitalbacked company commercialising technology developed at the Mayo Clinic for the repair of
the mitral valve via minimally invasive techniques.
From 1996 to 2006, Mr Seaberg served at Guidant Corp (subsequently acquired by Boston
Scientific Corp) where he served in various executive level positions including Director of
Bradycardia Marketing for Cardiac Rhythm Management, Vice President of Sales for Cardiac
Surgery and Vice President of Sales for Cardiac Rhythm Management.
In 1991, Mr Seaberg was co-founder of ACIST Medical and served as its first President and
CEO.
Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years
Special responsibilities
Interests in shares and options

Mr Seaberg is a resident of Minneapolis, Minnesota, United States of America.
MBA, University of Minnesota and BA, University of Minnesota.
None.
Chair of the Board
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
Ordinary shares in Admedus Ltd
Unlisted options over ordinary shares in Admedus Ltd
Listed options over ordinary shares in Admedus Ltd

885,703
100,000
700,000
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Mr Stephen Denaro - Independent Non-Executive Director
Experience and expertise
Mr Denaro was appointed as Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary on 31 October
2018.
Mr Denaro has more than 30 years of senior level and Board level experience across publiclylisted companies; serving as Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Director. He
brings a depth of experience in managing compliance with finance and accounting regulatory
requirements. He has managed investment acquisitions and subsequent funding (domestic
and international).
Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years
Special responsibilities
Interests in shares and options

Mr Denaro is a resident of Brisbane, QLD, Australia.
Bachelor of Business in Accountancy, Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance,
member of Chartered Accountants Australia & New Zealand and the Australian Institute of
Company Directors.
None.
Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee
Company Secretary
Nil.

Mr Wenyi Gu - Non-Executive Director
Experience and expertise
Dr Gu was appointed to the Board of Directors as Nominee Non-Executive Director of Star
Bright Holding Ltd on 4 October 2018.
Dr Gu currently works as Research Fellow for the Australian Institute for Bioengineering and
Nanotechnology at The University of Queensland (UQ), where he began his post-doctoral
work in 2001. He held a Peter Doherty Fellowship (2006-2009) and was supported by the
National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) to work at Harvard Medical School,
Harvard University as a visiting research fellow.
Before engaging in nanomedicine (focusing on drug delivery and cancer therapy), he worked
on RNAi-based gene therapy for several years at Translation Research Institute (TRI). Dr Gu’s
research has been extensively published in respected industry journals such as Nature
Communications, Ad. Materials, ACS Nano and PNAS USA. He is a Nominee Non-Executive
Director for major shareholder, Star Bright Holding Ltd.

Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years
Special responsibilities
Interests in shares and options

Mr Gu is a resident of Brisbane, QLD, Australia.
Master’s degree in veterinary science, PhD in biochemistry and molecular biology at the
Australian National University.
None.
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Remuneration Committee
Nil.

Dr Yanheng Wu - Non-Executive Director
Experience and expertise
Dr Wu was appointed to the Board of Directors as Nominee Non-Executive Director of Star
Bright Holding Ltd on 12 December 2018.
Dr Wu is the President and Vice-chair of Constellation International (Group) Holdings Ltd. In
2016, he established Guangzhou Hearty-Care Biotechnology Ltd., a medical technology
company that is now owned by Constellation International (Group) Holdings Ltd. He holds
multiple biomedical patents and is well published domestically and internationally.

Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years
Interests in shares and options

Dr Wu is a resident of China.
Bachelor of Clinical Medicine from Guangzhou Medical University.
PhD in tumour immunotherapy and nanocarrier technology from the University of
Queensland.
None.
Direct interests: Nil.
Indirect interests: Refer to section J of the Remuneration Report.
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Ms Lishan Zhang - Non-Executive Director
Experience and expertise
Ms Zhang was appointed to the Board of Directors as Nominee Non-Executive Director of
Star Bright Holding Ltd on 12 December 2018.
Lishan Zhang is a successful businessperson and entrepreneur and has extensive executive
experience across strategy, development and financial oversight. She currently serves as the
Chair of Constellation International Group Holdings Ltd. and as Vice-Chair of Guangzhou
Hearty-Care Biotechnology Ltd.
Constellation International Group Holdings Ltd. is a medical technology holding company that
focusses on several areas, including vaccines technology, biological immunotherapy,
nanotechnology, biomedical materials and minimally invasive tumour treatments.
Ms Zhang’s business interests are primarily global asset and equity investments. She is also
the owner of Star Bright, a Hong Kong based private investment company with interests in
the medical and healthcare industry, and a mission to support the long-term development of
global medical care to help patients in need.
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years
Interests in shares and options

Ms Zhang is a resident of Hong Kong.
None.
Direct interests: Nil.
Indirect interests: Refer to section J of the Remuneration Report.

Dr Simon Buckingham - Independent Non-Executive Director (Resigned as Director 5 October 2018)
Experience and expertise
Dr Buckingham has over 25 years of experience in the global pharmaceutical industry across
a range of functions and variety of therapeutic areas. Dr Buckingham has been a NonExecutive Director of several companies and a Senior Advisor to a new Swiss biotech
company Idorsia Ltd. He was President, Global Corporate and Business Development at
Actelion from 2005-2011 and President, North America and Asia-Pacific at Actelion from
2000-2005.
He was the Founding President of Actelion Pharmaceuticals US Ltd (2000 - 2004). From 1998
to 2000 he worked in sales and marketing for Parke-Davis (now part of Pfizer) in the United
States. Prior to Parke-Davis, Dr Buckingham served at Roche in Switzerland and Australia.
Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years

BVSc (Hons), University of Sydney; PhD, University of Melbourne; Graduate from the
Australian Graduate School of Management (University of New South Wales) and the
Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Pharmaxis Ltd (ASX:PXS) from July 2012 to November 2018; Creso Pharma Ltd (ASX:CPH)
from October 2016 to May 2017.

Ms Catherine Costello - Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer (Resigned as Director on 27 October 2018)
Experience and expertise
Ms Costello was appointed as Director on 23 May 2018 and resigned as Director on 27
October 2018. Ms Costello was appointed as CFO on 7 November 2017 and resigned as CFO
on 16 November 2018.
Ms Costello has more than 20 years of experience in Australian and multinational business
and joined Admedus from an emerging ASX-listed company, where she served as CFO and
Company Secretary.
Prior to this role, she was Group Financial Controller with a global service provider operating
in 32 international jurisdictions, responsible for the global finance, reporting, tax and treasury
teams.
Preceding this, she worked for US-listed entities both at the head office and regional office
levels in senior finance management roles.
Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years

Commerce degree (University of Queensland), a Masters of Science from Curtin University,
Chartered Accountant, Chartered Secretary and a member of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors and Governance Institute of Australia.
None.

8
23

Admedus January – December 2018

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr Mathew Ratty - Independent Non-Executive Director (Resigned as Director on 20 May 2018)
Experience and expertise
Co-founder and Head of Investment at MC Management Group Pty Ltd, a globally focused
venture fund. He has extensive capital, equity and debt markets experience.
Prior to MC Management Group Pty Ltd, Mr Ratty worked at Gladstone Bridge Pty Ltd where
he worked as an analyst and was offered a Directorship at Gladstone Bridge Pty Ltd following
his success at the company.
Mr Ratty has experience in both domestic and international capital markets as well as
investment and funding feasibility analysis.
Qualifications
Listed Company Directorships in
last three years

B-Comm and BCom (Hons), Curtin University, Western Australia.
Adveritas Limited (ASX: AV1), previously listed under the name Tech Mpire Limited
(ASX:TMP), since February 2017.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Stephen Denaro was appointed as Company Secretary on 31 October 2018, replacing Ms Catherine Costello who resigned on 27
October 2018. During the financial year, Mrs Maja McGuire fulfilled the Company Secretary role until 27 February 2018, Ms Tanya
Mangold from 27 February 2018 to 15 March 2018 and Ms Catherine Costello from 15 March 2018 to 27 October 2018.
Mr Denaro combines the company secretarial duties with his role as Non-Executive Director. Mr Denaro is a Chartered Accountant
and Registered Tax Agent with more than 30 years of senior level and Board level experience across publicly-listed companies; serving
as Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Director. He brings a depth of experience in managing compliance with finance
and accounting regulatory requirements.
MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board Committee held during the period ended 31
December 2018 is set out below. The first column represents the number of meetings attended by each Director whilst in office:
Directors1
Mr Wayne Paterson
Mr John Seaberg
Mr Stephen Denaro
Dr Wenyi Gu
Dr Yanheng Wu
Ms Lishan Zhang
Dr Simon Buckingham
Ms Catherine Costello
Mr Mathew Ratty
1

Board of Directors
17/17
16/17
1/1
1/1
n/a
n/a
16/16
11/11
4/4

Audit and Risk Management
Committee
n/a
4/4

Remuneration Committee

1/1
1/1
n/a
n/a

1/1
1/1
n/a
n/a

3/3
n/a
2/2

n/a
2/2

1/1
n/a
0/1

Excludes circular resolutions.

Where a Director stood down from the Board and/or a committee during the period, excused himself from a meeting due to a conflict or was
appointed during the period, only meetings before standing down or after the date of appointment are shown.

The Board meets regularly on an informal basis in addition to the above meetings.
Details of the membership of the committees of the Board are presented in the Corporate Governance Statement, which can be
viewed at https://admedus.com/about/corporate-governance.
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The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
A

Introduction

B

Key Management Personnel

C

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration

D

Remuneration Governance

E

Use of Remuneration Consultants

F

Service Agreements

G

Details of Remuneration

H

Share-based Compensation

I

Additional Information

J

Additional Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel

The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.
A

Introduction

This year we have continued to review and refine our remuneration framework and associated practices following feedback from
stakeholders. This has included undertaking the benchmarking of both executive remuneration and non-executive director
remuneration incorporating an assessment of the market the Company operates in as well as the relative size and market
capitalisation of the Company. For executives based in the United States, an analysis of both Australian and US data sources was
utilised for the benchmarking.
A key component of the remuneration framework is the short term incentive remuneration for executives which has been assessed
in light of corporate and individual key performance metrics for the financial year. Finally, as part of the broader overall review and
refinement of the framework, a second phase has commenced to assess and where appropriate, revise the equity remuneration
practices of executive remuneration which will be implemented as part of the 2019 remuneration processes.
B

Key Management Personnel

For the purposes of this report personnel deemed Key Management Personnel (KMP) at any time during the period to 31 December
2018 are:
Board of Directors

Other KMP

Non-Executive Directors
Mr John Seaberg
Mr Stephen Denaro (from 31 October 2018)
Dr Wenyi Gu (from 4 October 2018)
Dr Yanheng Wu (from 12 December 2018)
Ms Lishan Zhang (from 12 December 2018)
Mr Simon Buckingham (until 4 October 2018)
Mr Mathew Ratty (until 20 May 2018)

Dr Kiran Bhirangi - Chief Medical Officer (from 3 December 2018)
Mr Matthew McDonnell - Interim Chief Financial Officer (from 23
November 2018)
Mr David St Denis - Chief Operating Officer
Ms Catherine Costello - Chief Financial Officer (until 16 November
2018)
Mr Ben Jensen - Chief Human Resources and Technology Officer
(until 1 July 2018)

Executive Directors
Mr Wayne Paterson
Ms Catherine Costello (from 23 May 2018 to 27 October 2018)
C

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration

The objective of the Company’s remuneration framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate for the
results delivered and set to attract and retain suitably qualified and experienced candidates. Remuneration levels are competitively
set to attract qualified and experienced directors and senior executive officers, in the context of prevailing market conditions.
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C

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration (continued)

The Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework:
•

the Board seeks independent advice on remuneration policies and practices including recommendations on remuneration
packages and other terms of employment for Directors; and

•

in determining remuneration, advice is sought from external consultants on current market practices for similar roles, the level
of responsibility, performance and potential of the individual and performance of the Group.

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive and Executive remuneration is separate and
distinct. Remuneration Committee responsibilities were carried out during the year ending 31 December 2018 by John Seaberg,
Stephen Denaro (from 7 December 2018), Wenyi Gu (from 7 December 2018), Simon Buckingham (until 4 October 2018) and Mathew
Ratty (until 20 May 2018).
Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy
Fees and payments to the Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on and the responsibilities of the Directors.
The Non-Executive Chairman’s fees are determined based on competitive roles in the external market. The Chairman is not present
at any discussions relating to the determination of his own remuneration.
The Non-Executive Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed by the remuneration committee to ensure they were appropriate and
in line with the market. The Chairman currently receives a fixed fee for his services as a Director.
The Company’s Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration package contains the following key elements:
•

primary benefits – monthly director’s fees including superannuation in the case of Australian based directors only.

•

equity – share options under the Admedus Share Option Incentive Plan (as approved by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting on 13 November 2015).

The Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended
for approval by shareholders. The maximum currently stands at $700,000 per annum and was approved by shareholders at the 2014
Annual General Meeting.
No retirement benefits are provided other than compulsory superannuation.
Executive Remuneration Policy
The Company’s Executive Director and other Executives remuneration packages contain the following key elements:
•

primary benefits – Base salary, short term incentives, superannuation or pension contributions and in the case of US based
executives a health benefit plan.

•

equity – share options under the Admedus Share Option Incentive Plan (as approved by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting on 13 November 2015 and the Admedus Long Term Incentive Plan approved by Shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting on 16 November 2017).

The combination of these components comprises the Executive Directors’ and Executive’s total remuneration.
External remuneration information provides benchmark information to ensure remuneration is set to reflect the market for a
comparable role. Base fees are reviewed annually to ensure the level is competitive with the market. There is no guaranteed salary
increase included in any contracts.
There are no performance conditions on options issued to directors and employees under the 2015 and 2017 Plans.
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Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration (continued)

Consolidated Entity Performance and Link to Remuneration
Remuneration for individuals is directly linked to the performance of the consolidated entity as well as the performance of the
individual. Incentive payments are dependent on defined corporate and individual key performance indicators being met. Incentive
payments are at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee believes the setting of key corporate and individual key performance targets which are aligned to the
corporate strategy, will drive the development, performance and position of the Company. This will drive increased shareholder
wealth over the coming years.
The following chart sets out the executives’ target remuneration mix in the current year. The short term and long term incentives
are provided at target levels.

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Medical Officer
Interim Chief Financial
Officer

Wayne Paterson
David St Denis
Kiran Bhirangi
Matthew McDonnell

Former Key Management Personnel
Chief Financial Officer
Catherine Costello
Chief Human Resources
and Technology Officer
Ben Jensen
D

Fixed remuneration
50%
57%
61%
83%

At risk
Short term incentive
Long term incentive
30%
20%
29%
14%
24%
15%
17%
N/A

65%

19%

16%

65%

19%

16%

Remuneration Governance

The Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Board. The purpose of the Committee to review and make recommendations
to the Board in relation to the overall remuneration policy for the Company and, specifically:
•
•
•
•
•

Non-Executive Director remuneration;
Executive Director and Senior Executive remuneration;
the implementation of, and amendment of, any executive long term incentive plans;
executive remuneration changes and contractual amendments not required to be recommended to the Board; and
the establishment of any new, and amendment of the terms of any existing, long term incentive plans for employees
below Senior Executive level.

The Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on this committee, which can be viewed at
https://admedus.com/about/corporate-governance.
E

Use of Remuneration Consultants

The Company’s objective is to ensure that remuneration policies are fair and competitive and aligned with the long-term interests of
the Company. In response to feedback received from shareholders at the AGM in May 2018, the Remuneration Committee sought
advice from an independent remuneration consultant to benchmark wages for key executive roles.
The benchmarking and review of market practices in place at comparable companies resulted in no changes to the framework for
2018. The Company continues to review and refine the remuneration framework, to align with strategic imperatives and the
expectation of broader stakeholders.
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Service Agreements

Non-Executive Directors
On appointment, all Non-Executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the Company in the form of a letter of appointment.
The letter outlines the Board’s policies and terms, including remuneration.
Directors fees cover all board activities including membership of any board committees. The base fee for the Chairperson from 1
November 2018 is US$140,000. Base fees for other directors is $110,000. Two directors, Ms Lishan Zhang and Dr Yanheng Wu have
currently elected not to receive directors’ fees.
Executives
The Company has also entered into service agreements with other executives as noted below, which contain standard terms and
conditions for agreements of this nature, including confidentiality, restraint on competition and intellectual property provisions.
These agreements may be terminated by notice by either party, or earlier in the event of certain breaches of the terms and conditions.
Specific terms and conditions of the service agreements of the executives at the end of the financial period are summarised for each
member each of the KMP below. These executives will receive a termination entitlement if they are terminated or resign equivalent
to their salary over their respective notice period.
The key remuneration arrangements included in the service agreements for each member of the KMP are set out below.
CEO and Managing Director – Wayne Paterson
•
Base salary of US$624,750.
•
401k pension employer contribution of 3%.
•
Short term incentive opportunity at target of 60% of base salary. This target is based on financial performance against
budgeted revenue and costs targets, an EBITDA target and a capital raising target.
•
Long term incentive opportunity at target of 40% of base salary.
•
Health Insurance.
•
The term of this agreement is 3 years, expiring 14 March 2020. There is a notice period of 3 months by either party.
Chief Operating Officer – David St Denis
•
Base salary of US$396,000.
•
401k pension employer contribution of 3%.
•
Short term incentive opportunity at target of 50% of base salary. This target is based on financial performance against
budgeted revenue and costs targets, an EBITDA target and a capital raising target.
•
Long term incentive opportunity at target of 25% of base salary.
•
Health Insurance.
•
There is no fixed term for this agreement. There is a notice period of 12 months by either party.

Chief Medical officer – Kiran Bhirangi
•
Base salary of US$325,000.
•
401k pension employer contribution of 3%.
•
Short term incentive opportunity at target of 40% of base salary. This target is based on financial performance against
budgeted revenue and costs targets, an EBITDA target and a capital raising target.
•
Long term incentive opportunity at target of 25% of base salary.
•
Health Insurance.
•
There is no fixed term for this agreement. There is a notice period of 1 month by either party.
Interim Chief Financial officer – Matthew McDonnell
•
Base salary of A$360,000, including superannuation.
•
Short term incentive opportunity at target of 20% of base salary. This target is based on financial performance against
budgeted revenue and costs targets, an EBITDA target and a capital raising target.
•
The term of this agreement is 6 months, expiring 23 May 2019. There is currently a notice period of 1 month by either party
(previously 2 weeks).
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Service Agreements (continued)

Former key management personnel: Chief Human Resources and Technology officer – Ben Jensen
•
Base salary of $359,900, including superannuation.
•
Short term incentive opportunity at target of 30% of base salary. This target is based on financial performance against
budgeted revenue and costs targets, an EBITDA target and a capital raising target.
•
Long term incentive opportunity at target of 25% of base salary.
Former key management personnel: Chief Financial officer – Catherine Costello
•
Base salary of $370,650, including superannuation.
•
Short term incentive opportunity at target of 30% of base salary. This target is based on financial performance against
budgeted revenue and costs targets, an EBITDA target and a capital raising target.
•
Long term incentive opportunity at target of 25% of base salary.
G

Details of Remuneration

Short term incentives – 2018
Details of short term bonuses achieved or forfeited in the current reporting period are as follows (i):
31 DECEMBER 2018
Name
Wayne Paterson
Kiran Bhirangi (iv)
Matthew McDonnell (iv)
David St Denis
Catherine Costello (v)
Ben Jensen (v)

Awarded
%
53%
n/a
n/a
53%
n/a
n/a

(ii)

Forfeited
%
47%
n/a
n/a
47%
n/a
n/a

31 DECEMBER 2017
(iii)

Awarded (ii)
%
104.9%
n/a
n/a
104.9%
n/a
104.9%

Forfeited (iii)
%
Nil
n/a
n/a
Nil
n/a
Nil

Budgeted revenue, cost targets, EBITDA and capital raisings are the main financial performance targets when setting short-term incentives
The percent achieved is based on the maximum short-term incentive for each executive and includes stretch targets
(iii) The amounts forfeited are due to the performance of service criteria not being met in relation to the current year
(iv) Mr Bhirangi and Mr McDonnell were not entitled to a short-term incentive for the current period as both Executives had not been employed for
the minimum period to trigger an entitlement.
(v) Catherine Costello and Ben Jensen resigned prior to the assessment of bonus payments.
(i)

(ii)

14
29

30

Details of Remuneration (continued)

8,333
835,070
843,403
34,789
34,825
529,312
299,967
164,501
1,063,394
1,906,797

149,022
16,667
16,667
-

76,075
41,667

300,098
-

300,098

Salary1
$

-

-

430,165

148,682

148,682
-

281,483
281,483

Bonus2
$

-

-

57,385

27,431

27,431
-

29,954
29,954

Nonmonetary
benefits
$

(4) There are no termination or retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors (other than statutory superannuation).
(5) S. Denaro was appointed as Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary on 31 October 2018. Remuneration payments
commenced from 1 November 2018.

87,748

-

-

-

568,776

568,776

237,903
330,873

Termination
benefits
$

276,008

192,826

313
57,945
80,257
54,311

77,780
83,182

-

5,402
-

Equity
shares/options
$

Share based
benefits

3,584,937

2,023,235

37,671
35,607
776,685
639,090
534,182

1,232,760
1,561,702

83,683
45,834

154,424
26,667
18,334
-

$

Total

%

1%
7%
13%
10%

19%
-

-

23%

6%

-

%

Performance
related

-

-

-

3%

Percentage
remuneration
consisting of
shares/options
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(6) W. Gu was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 4 October 2018. Remuneration payments commenced from 1 November
2018.
(7) Y. Wu was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 12 December 2018.
(8) L. Zhang was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 12 December 2018.
(9) S. Buckingham resigned as Non-Executive Director on 4 October 2018.
(10) M. Ratty resigned as Non-Executive Director on 20 May 2018.
(11) K. Bhirangi was appointed as Chief Medical Officer on 3 December 2018.
(12) M. McDonnell was appointed as Interim Chief Financial Officer on 23 November 2018.
(13) C. Costello resigned as Director on 27 October 2018 and Chief Financial Officer on 16 November 2018.
(14) B. Jensen resigned as Chief Human Resources and Technology Officer on 1 July 2018.

(42,040)

(42,805)

64,931

3,483
12,390
25,383
23,675

2,569
(2,701)
925
(4,420)
(39,178)

765

7,708
22,817

7,608
4,167

1,667
1,667
-

Superannuation
$

Post-employment benefits

765

Leave3
$

(1) Remuneration contracts are denominated in USD for the following KMP based in the USA/Europe:
W.
W.Paterson
Paterson(base(base
salarysalary
USD 624,750)
USD 624,750)
D.D.StStDenis
Denis (base(base
salary
salary USD 396,000)
Bhirangi(base salary
(baseUSD
salary USD 325,000)
KK.Bhirangi
(2) The bonus figures disclosed for KMP relates to amounts accrued for the year as determined under the STI scheme.
(3) Leave represents the movement in annual leave and long service leave provision balances. The accounting value may be
negative, for example when a KMP has taken more leave than accrued during the year.

Non-Executive Director 4
J. Seaberg
S. Denaro5
W. Gu6
Y. Wu7
L. Zhang8
S. Buckingham9
M. Ratty10
Executive Directors
W. Paterson
Total directors’ compensation (Group)
Other Key Management Personnel
K. Bhirangi11
M. McDonnell12
D. St Denis
C. Costello13
B. Jensen14
Total key management personnel
compensation (Group)
TOTAL

12 months to 31 December 2018

Directors
fees
$

Short-term benefits

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and other Key Management Personnel of the Group is set out below. The disclosure for 2018 represents a full year of remuneration with the comparative period
being six months.
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(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

-

381,960
381,960
27,170
55,201
165,536
231,101
124,023
603,031
984,991

-

170,000

-

-

-

-

913,387

250,003

20,000
103,222
126,781
-

663,384
663,384

Bonus
$
-

-

24,547

11,806

11,806
-

12,741
12,741

Nonmonetary
benefits
$
-

47,400

37,400

6,286
4,745
14,046
6,400
5,923

10,000

5,000

5,000

Superannuation
$
-

-

-

-

278,255

278,255

100,560
177,695

Termination
benefits
$

Post-employment benefits

24,706

11,362

402
1,668
2,414
9,019
(2,141)

6,672
13,344

-

-

6,672

Equity
shares/options
$

Share based
benefits

76,672
55,000

55,000

2,443,286

1,191,857

134,418
81,614
285,218
385,107
305,500

1,064,757
1,251,429

$

Total

%

-

2%
1%
2%
(1%)

-

-

-

36%
33%
-

62%

-

-

-

%

Performance
related

9%

Percentage
remuneration
consisting of
shares/options
for the year
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There are no termination or retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors (other than statutory superannuation).
J Chick resigned as Chief Operating Officer on 31 July, 2017
C Costello was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 7 November, 2017
B Jensen, Chief Human Resources and Technology Officer was deemed KMP from 1 July 2017
D St Denis was appointed as Chief Operating Officer on 1 July, 2017
M Ziirsen resigned as Chief Financial Officer on 6 November, 2017
Admedus has adopted a formal STI scheme which allows KMP bonuses for the calendar year to be finalised prior to the signing of the financial statements. The bonus figures disclosed for KMP relates to bonuses accrued for the 6 months to 31 December
2017. Note W Paterson’s bonus also includes a cash payment for the achievement of set targets in the previous year. Moving forward the bonus disclosed in the remuneration report will only relate to amounts accrued for that year as determined under
the STI scheme.

W. Paterson
Total directors’ compensation (Group)
Key Management Personnel
J. Chick 2
C. Costello3
B. Jensen4
D. St Denis5
M. Ziirsen 6
Total key management personnel
compensation (Group)
TOTAL

Salary
$

Short-term benefits

170,000

50,000

M. Ratty

Executive Directors

70,000

50,000

J. Seaberg

Directors
fees
$

S. Buckingham

Non-Executive Director 1

6 months to 31 December 2017

G
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Share-based Compensation

Options
Set out below are summaries of the number of options granted by Admedus Limited to directors and other key management
personnel:
Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise
price
$

21/05/2014
30/06/2015
10/12/2015
23/12/2015
22/09/2017
17/11/2017
08/06/2018
18/12/2018
Total

21/05/2019
30/06/2020
10/12/2020
23/12/2020
22/09/2022
15/12/2022
31/12/2027
18/12/2021

1.70
1.17
1.39
0.79
0.26
0.22
0.37
0.08

Balance at
start of the
period

Granted
during the
period

200,000
100,000
200,000
190,000(1)
400,000
200,000
1,290,000

Commenced
as KMP

2,777,865(2)
1,400,000(3)
4,177,865

-

Balance at
end of the
period

Ceased as
KMP

(200,000)
(100,000)
(190,000)
(200,000)
(799,350)
(1,489,350)

200,000
400,000
1,978,515
1,400,000
3,978,515

Fair Value at
grant date
per option
$
0.75
0.43
0.52
0.15
0.13
0.17
-

(1) M. Ratty received warrants via participation in a Placement prior to becoming a Non-Executive Director.
(2) Options granted as compensation under Tranche H of the Long Term Incentive Plan. KMP did not receive options under Tranche G.
(3) J. Seaberg and W. Paterson participated in the rights issue on 18 December 2018 and both Directors hold 700,000 listed options with an exercise price
of $0.08 and an expiry date of 18 December 2021. These options were not granted as compensation and are therefore shown in a separate column in
the table below.

Option holdings
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial period by each director of Admedus Limited,
including their personally related parties, and other KMP are set out below:
Option holder

32

Balance at
the start
of the
period

Granted as
compensation

Commenced
as KMP

Other net
changes

Ceased as
KMP

Expired/
Exercised

Balance at
the end of
the period

Unvested

Vested and
exercisable

1 January 2018 - 31 December 2018
Directors of Admedus Limited
J. Seaberg
100,000
W. Paterson
100,000
1,435,630
S. Denaro
W. Gu
Y. Wu
L. Zhang
S. Buckingham
M. Ratty
190,000
-

-

700,000
700,000
-

(190,000)

-

800,000
2,235,630
n/a
n/a

1,435,630
-

800,000
800,000
-

Other key management personnel of the Group
K. Bhirangi
M. McDonnell
D. St Denis
400,000
542,885
C. Costello
200,000
418,817
B. Jensen
300,000
380,533

-

-

(618,817)
(680,533)

-

942,885
n/a
n/a

809,552
-

133,333
-
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Share-based Compensation (continued)

Fair Value of Options Granted
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the period ended 31 December 2018 was 17.0 cents per option
for Tranche G, and 18.0 cents per option for Tranche H. The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model that considers the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility
of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.
The model inputs for options granted during the period ended 31 December 2018 included:
Tranche G

Tranche H

$0.37

$0.30

Grant date:

8 June 2018

8 June 2018

Expiry date:

31 December 2027

31 December 2027

Share price at grant date:

$0.26

$0.26

Expected price volatility of the
Company’s shares:

70%

70%

2.18%

2.18%

Exercise price:

Risk-free interest rate:

All Tranches of options are granted for no consideration and vest based on the holder still being employed by Admedus Limited
over a three-year period. Vested options are exercisable for a period up to the expiry date.
The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.
I

Additional Information

The earnings of the consolidated entity for the five and a half years to 31 December 2018 are summarised below:

Sales revenue
SG&A*
EBITDA
Profit/(Loss) after tax

Financial
year ending
31 December
2018
$

Six months
to 31
December
2017
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2017
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2016
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2015
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2014
$

25,601,097
(34,291,462)
(20,691,421)
(24,698,678)

11,305,079
(14,541,863)
(7,717,524)
(8,828,576)

22,324,145
(24,451,028)
(10,913,923)
(12,676,211)

14,150,521
(33,370,182)
(28,220,840)
(25,130,409)

10,133,460
(26,032,059)
(23,120,891)
(26,799,970)

7,940,622
(16,131,311)
(8,559,638)
(9,048,843)

(*) Selling, general and administration expenses (SG&A) include employee benefits expense, consultancy and legal fees, travel and conference
expenses, research and development costs, share based payments expense and other expenses.

The factors that are considered to affect total shareholder return (‘TSR’) are summarised below:

Share price at year/period
end ($A)
Total dividends declared
(cents per share)
Basic loss per share
(cents per share)

Financial
year ending
31 December
2018
$

Six months
to 31
December
2017
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2017
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2016
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2015
$

Financial
year ending
30 June
2014
$

0.06
-

0.30
-

0.27
-

0.33
-

0.70
-

1.35
-

(7.93)

(3.39)

(4.83)

(12.58)

(16.48)

(6.22)
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Additional Disclosure Relating to Key Management Personnel

Shareholding
The number of shares in the Company held during the year by each director and other KMP of the consolidated entity, including
their personally related parties, is set out below. There were no shares granted during the reporting or comparative period as
compensation.

Ordinary shareholders

Balance at the
start of the year

1 January 2018 - 31 December 2018
Directors of Admedus Limited
J. Seaberg
W. Paterson
S. Denaro
W. Gu
Y. Wu
L. Zhang
S. Buckingham
M. Ratty

Commenced /
ceased as KMP
during the year

Other changes
during year

Balance at the
end of the year

19,036
50,000
10,434,373

-

866,667
866,667
-

(10,434,373)

885,703
916,667
-

12,572

-

-

(12,572)

-

Other key management
personnel of the Group
K. Bhirangi
M. McDonnell
D. St Denis
C. Costello
B. Jensen

Indirect interests

Received during
the year on
exercise of
options

Name of holder

Nature of interest

Number of class and securities

Y. Wu

Indirect - entities controlled/
has an interest in

113,228,348 ordinary shares and 47,178,461
quoted options represented by:

Indirect - entities controlled/
has an interest in

Constellation Immunotherapy Limited
Constellation Int’l (Group) Holdings Limited
133,453,435 ordinary shares and 62,897,248
quoted options represented by:

40,209,208
73,019,140

16,753,837
30,424,624

Carron Services Limited
Star Bright Holding Limited
Constellation Immunotherapy Limited
Constellation Int’l (Group) Holdings Limited

2,857,144
17,367,943
40,209,208
73,019,140

1,190,477
14,528,310
16,753,837
30,424,624

L. Zhang

Ordinary
Shares

Quoted
options*

(*) The quoted options were received from participation in the rights issue on 18 December 2018 and have an exercise price of $0.08 and an
expiry date of 18 December 2021.

Other transactions with Key Management Personnel
As part of the renounceable rights issue on 18 December 2018 two Directors of the Company, Chairman John Seaberg and
Executive Director and CEO Wayne Paterson, agreed to take up their respective entitlements and underwrite the entitlement
offer for a total amount of $50,000 each. The Directors were not paid a fee for their underwriting.
Loans to Key Management Personnel
No loans have currently been provided to key management personnel.
THIS IS THE END OF THE AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT
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SHARES UNDER OPTION/WARRANT
Unissued ordinary shares of Admedus Limited under option/warrant as at the date of this report are as follows:
Date options
granted
28/03/2014
21/05/2014
05/11/2014
30/06/2015
21/07/2015
10/12/2015
10/12/2015
18/12/2015
23/12/2015
24/06/2016
18/11/2016
23/03/2017
22/09/2017
25/10/2017
17/11/2017
08/06/2018
08/06/2018
18/12/2018

Expiry date
01/02/2019
21/05/2019
05/11/2019
30/06/2020
21/07/2020
10/12/2020
10/12/2020
18/12/2020
23/12/2020
24/06/2021
18/11/2021
23/03/2022
22/09/2022
26/10/2024
15/12/2022
31/12/2027
31/12/2027
18/12/2021

Exercise price
of options
$
2.45
1.70
2.10
1.17
1.44
0.83
1.39
0.79
0.79
0.30
0.34
0.34
0.26
0.25
0.22
0.30
0.37
0.08

Total

Number under
option
200,000
800,000
210,000
1,575,000
795,000
475,000
150,000
5,250,000
380,000
100,000
66,667
450,000
750,000
4,938,799
450,000
2,125,000
4,167,548
237,052,479*
259,935,493

* On 18 December 2018, a renounceable rights issue of shares was undertaken at an issue price of $0.08 per share, with an attaching listed
option for each share issued. As at 31 December 2018, none of the listed options had been exercised.

No option/warrant holder has any right under the options/warrants to participate in any other share issue of the Company or
any other entity. The options/warrants are exercisable at any time after vesting or before the expiry date.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, 4,371,922 unlisted options were cancelled (six-month period to 31 December 2017:
858,333 options cancelled).
INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the period to 31 December 2018, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors and Officers
of the Company and any subsidiary against a liability incurred as a Director or Officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations
Act 2001. Due to a confidentiality clause in the policy, the amount of the premium has not been disclosed.
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against
the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers
in connection with such proceedings, other than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by
the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone
else or to cause detriment to the Company. It is not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance
against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of
the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purposes of taking responsibility on
behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001.
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties, where the auditors’
DIRECTORS’
REPORT (continued)
expertise and experience with the Company are important.
NON-AUDIT
No
non-auditSERVICES
services were provided by the auditor (HLB Mann Judd) during the year ended 31 December 2018 (six months to
31
December
Nil). to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties, where the auditors’
The Company 2017:
may decide
expertise and experience with the Company are important.
AUDITOR
No
non-audit services
were
by the auditor
(HLB
Mann
Judd)
the year ended
31 December
In accordance
with s327C
of provided
the Corporations
Act 2001,
HLB
Mann
Juddduring
(WA Partnership)
continues
in office.2018 (six months to
31 December 2017: Nil).
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
AUDITOR
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is attached.
In accordance with s327C of the Corporations Act 2001, HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) continues in office.
This report isINDEPENDENCE
made in accordance
with a resolution of the Directors.
AUDITOR’S
DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is attached.
John Seaberg
Chairman
This
report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.
Dated 28 February 2019
John Seaberg
Chairman
Dated 28 February 2019
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Admedus Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2018, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been
no contraventions of:
(a)
(b)

the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and
any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Perth, Western Australia
28 February 2019

M R Ohm
Partner
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Board and management of Admedus Limited are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of
corporate governance. Admedus Limited has reviewed its corporate governance practices against the Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations (3rd edition) published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council.
The corporate governance statement reflects the corporate governance practices in place throughout the financial year. A
description of the Group’s current corporate governance practices is set out in the Group’s corporate governance statement,
which can be viewed at https://admedus.com/about/corporate-governance.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
CONSOLIDATED

Note

12 MONTHS TO

6 MONTHS TO

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2018
$

2017
$

25,601,097

11,305,079

Cost of sales

(13,162,598)

(4,636,699)

Gross profit

12,438,499

6,668,380

428,621

406,972

Revenue from continuing operations

3

Other income

3

Employee benefits

4

(23,513,819)

(10,644,514)

Consultancy and legal fees

(2,985,980)

(992,577)

Travel and conference expenses

(2,504,491)

(1,247,121)

Research and development costs

(3,372,965)

(597,557)

Share based payments

4

(8,957)

(355,073)

Depreciation and amortisation expense

4

(1,410,776)

(897,941)

Financing costs

4

(2,638,323)

(252,782)

774,763

Fair value movement of warrant
Other expenses
Loss before income tax from continuing operations
Income tax (expense)/benefit

(1,905,250)

(705,021)

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

-

5

Loss after income tax for the period/year

(211,342)

-

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

(24,217,169)

(8,631,786)

(481,509)

(196,790)

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

Total loss is attributable to:
Equity holders of Admedus Limited
Non-controlling interest

Loss per share from continuing operations attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company (cents per share)

Cents

Cents

Basic loss per share

11

(7.93)

(3.39)

Diluted loss per share

11

n/a

n/a

The Company is reporting on the full year ended 31 December 2018. The comparative accounting period is for the six-month
period from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017, in line with the previously released financial report.
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
CONSOLIDATED

Note

Loss for the period/year

12 MONTHS TO

6 MONTHS TO

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2018
$

2017
$

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

(469,115)
-

(568,921)
-

(25,167,793)

(9,397,497)

(24,686,284)

(9,200,707)

(481,509)

(196,790)

(25,167,793)

(9,397,497)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
FX translation
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss is attributable to:
Equity holders of Admedus Limited
Non-controlling interest

The Company is reporting on the full year ended 31 December 2018. The comparative accounting period is for the six-month
period from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017, in line with the previously released financial report.
The above Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
Note

2018
$

2017
$

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6(a)

12,036,301

8,254,823

Trade and other receivables

6(b)

4,191,545

4,718,096

Inventories

7(a)

6,691,857

5,553,620

22,919,703

18,526,539

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant & equipment

7(b)

3,474,732

3,680,744

Intangibles

7(c)

5,465,674

5,913,774

-

248,944

8,940,406

9,843,462

31,860,109

28,370,001

Deferred asset
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

6(c)

6,782,664

5,448,470

Provisions

7(d)

1,586,998

875,651

Borrowings

6(e)

-

4,766,449

Financial liability - warrant

6(f)

832,879

248,766

Deferred consideration

6(d)

400,000

400,000

9,602,541

11,739,336

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

7(d)

-

553,631

Deferred consideration

6(d)

778,409

1,150,619

778,409

1,704,250

TOTAL LIABILITIES

10,380,950

13,443,586

NET ASSETS

21,479,159

14,926,415

137,737,211

106,025,631

Total Non-Current Liabilities

EQUITY
Contributed equity

9

Reserves

10

Accumulated losses
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of Admedus
Non-controlling interest
TOTAL EQUITY

14

(2,941,388)

(2,481,230)

(113,678,373)

(89,461,204)

21,117,450

14,083,197

361,709

843,218

21,479,159

14,926,415

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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-

-

106,025,631

-

8,957
4,976,365

(3,699,216)
137,737,211

Capital raising costs

Options issued during the year

Balance at 31 December 2018

(674,726)

-

-

-

(469,115)

(469,115)

(205,611)

-

(113,678,373)

21,117,450

8,957

-

-

35,410,796
(3,699,216)

(24,686,284)
-

(24,217,169)

(24,217,169)

(24,217,169)
-

(469,115)

14,083,197

355,073

(9,200,707)

(89,461,204)

-

(8,631,786)

(568,921)

-

(568,921)

(8,631,786)

(8,631,786)

22,928,831

Total
$

-

(80,829,418)

Accumulated Losses
$

(568,921)

363,310

Foreign currency
translation reserve
$

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(7,243,027)

-

-

-

-

-

-

35,410,796

-

Total comprehensive loss

-

(7,243,027)

-

-

-

(7,243,027)

Other Reserves
$

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Shares issued during the year

-

Exchange translation differences

Loss for the year
-

4,967,408

-

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Options issued during the period

Balance at 31 December 2017

355,073

-

-

4,612,335

Share-based
payments reserve
$

106,025,631

Share Capital
$

Total comprehensive loss

Exchange translation differences

Loss for the period

Balance at 1 July 2017

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

361,709

-

-

-

(481,509)

(481,509)
-

843,218

-

(196,790)

-

(196,790)

1,040,008

Non-controlling
Interest
$

28

21,479,159

8,957

35,410,796
(3,699,216)

(25,167,793)

(469,115)

(24,698,678)

14,926,415

355,073

(9,397,497)

(568,921)

(8,828,576)

23,968,839

Total Equity
$

Admedus January – December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
CONSOLIDATED

Note

12 MONTHS TO

6 MONTHS TO

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2018
$

2017
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest paid
Interest received
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

6(g)

28,132,581

11,383,314

(49,888,332)

(17,914,986)

(525,493)

(109,340)

75,931

14,705

(22,205,313)

(6,626,307)

(611,218)

(782,109)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant & equipment

-

Payments for intangible assets
Payments to acquire investments
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(361,866)

(400,000)

-

(1,011,218)

(1,143,975)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from share or options issues

35,410,796

Share issue transaction costs

(3,068,680)

816
-

Proceeds from borrowings

5,000,000

Repayment of borrowings

(10,000,000)

-

(192,856)

(497,888)

Term facility transaction costs
NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

5,000,000

27,149,260

4,502,928

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HELD

3,932,729

(3,267,354)

CASH AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD

8,254,823

11,260,657

(151,251)

Exchange rate adjustments
CASH AT END OF THE PERIOD

6(a)

12,036,301

261,520
8,254,823

The Company is reporting on the year ended 31 December 2018. The comparative accounting period is for the six-month period from 1
July 2017 to 31 December 2017, in line with the previously released financial report.
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise Admedus Limited (Company) and its controlled entities. The consolidated financial
statements are general purpose financial statements and are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
entity is a for-profit entity.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for derivative financial
instruments, which have been measured at fair value through profit or loss.
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity only.
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 15.
At the end of the 2017 calendar year, the Company changed its financial year-end from 30 June to 31 December. This change more
closely aligned Admedus’ reporting period with its global business sales cycles, assisting with forecasting, cash flow management and
investment decisions. Consequently, for the current consolidated financial statements, the comparative accounting period is the 6month period from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017, in line with the previous released financial report.
The Group’s accounting policies have been consistently applied to all of the periods presented unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business activities and
realisation of assets and discharges of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.
As disclosed in the financial statements, the Group incurred a net loss of $24,698,678 and had net cash outflows from operating activities
of $22,205,313 for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. As at that date, the Group had a cash balance of $12,036,301 and net
working capital of $13,317,162.
The Directors believe that it is reasonably foreseeable that the Group will continue as a going concern and that it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial report after consideration of the following factors:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Continued growth in the ADAPT® and Infusion business.
New product lines to be launched such as CardioCel® 3D Stage 1 Arch, Half Pipe Conduit, Adult AV Leaflets and RVOT Hood and
TAP that are at varying stages of design development, regulatory clearance and user evaluation.
New markets for the Groups ADAPT® products including Taiwan, Australia (post TGA approval), Indonesia, Israel, Nordics and
Japan.
The planned partial divestiture of the immunotherapies business, which will provide funding directly to that entity.
The possible divestment of non-core assets.
New possible partnerships and alliances for ADAPT® and TAVR products.
Monitoring, containing and if required deferring operational costs, including R&D costs, and capital expenditures.
The Company has an established track record of successfully raising new capital and debt facilities.

Notwithstanding the above factors, should the options above not be subsequently available to the Company, there are material
uncertainties as to whether the Company and the Group will be able to continue as a going concern and therefore, whether they will
realise their assets and extinguish their liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.
The financial report does not include adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts nor to the
amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company and Group not continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Admedus Limited as at 31 December 2018
and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Admedus Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial
statements as the 'consolidated entity'.
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. Control is achieved when the consolidated entity is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and can affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They
are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
consolidated entity.
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, without the
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book value
of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent.
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit or loss and statement of
other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the consolidated entity. Losses
incurred by the consolidated entity are attributed to the non-controlling interests in full, even if that results in a deficit balance.
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it de-recognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling
interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The consolidated entity recognises
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.
(c)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets,
liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgments, estimates and assumptions on historical
experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events that management believes to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements,
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed in the following notes.
Note 19(e)

Share-based payment transactions

Note 7(a)

Allowance for impairment of inventories

Note 7(c)

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Note 7(c)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other intangible assets

Note 5(e)

Income tax

Note 7(d)(ii)

Lease make good provision
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
2.

SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Description of segments

Segment information is presented using a management approach, i.e. segment information is provided on the same basis as information
as used for internal reporting purposes by the chief operating decision maker (CODM, being the CEO that makes key strategic decisions).
The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.
Management has determined that there are four identifiable reportable segments as follows:
•

Disposable medical product and medical devices distribution (Infusion Business);

•

Bio implant operations – inclusive of sales, distribution and manufacturing (ADAPT Business);

•

Regenerative medicine R&D - ADAPT technology; and

•

Immunotherapies R&D.

Intersegment transactions
Intersegment transactions were made at market rates. Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
Intersegment receivables, payables and loans
Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable and loans payable that earn or
incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. Intersegment loans are eliminated on
consolidation.
Segment information

Infusion
Business
$

ADAPT
Business
$

Regenerative
medicine R&D
$

Immunotherapies
R&D
$

Total
$

12 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER 2018
Total segment revenue

14,532,336

11,068,761

-

-

25,601,097

127,740

(11,880,962)

(5,799,826)

(1,775,638)

(19,328,686)

Segment assets

5,134,737

9,036,271

2,167,588

3,485,212

19,823,808

Segment liabilities
Acquisition of non-current
assets

1,412,874

5,406,976

1,512,842

1,215,379

9,548,071

203,534

410,595

69,617

-

683,746

108,510

812,270

324,368

165,628

1,410,776

Total segment revenue

7,508,488

3,796,591

-

-

11,305,079

Segment profit/(loss)

(631,465)

(3,658,887)

(1,586,935)

(809,588)

(6,686,875)

Segment assets

5,327,670

8,313,826

2,233,635

3,991,103

19,866,234

Segment liabilities

2,646,139

3,743,697

1,828,486

210,049

8,428,371

260,933

1,424,140

228,649

2,410

1,916,132

117,140

293,206

233,553

254,042

897,941

Segment profit/(loss)

Depreciation & amortisation
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER 2017*

Acquisition of non-current
assets
Depreciation & amortisation

* At the commencement of the 2018 year, the internal reporting structures were changed with certain corporate and administration expenses no longer
allocated to divisional results. The comparative figures have been updated to reflect this reporting restructure.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
2.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b)

Other segment information

(i)

Segment revenue
Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length and are eliminated on consolidation. Segment revenue reconciles to
total revenue from continuing operations as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$

(ii)

Segment revenue

25,601,097

11,305,079

Total revenue from continuing operations

25,601,097

11,305,079

Segment result
Performance is measured based on segment result before tax.
The reconciliation of segment information to loss before income tax from continuing operations is as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
2018
$
Segment loss

6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
2017
$

(19,328,686)

(6,686,875)

(5,369,992)

(2,141,701)

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

Unallocated:
Corporate and administration expenses
Loss before income tax from continuing operations
(iii)

Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that can be allocated
to the segment on a reasonable basis.
Segment assets include all assets used by the segment and consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other creditors and provisions.
Reportable segment assets reconciled to total assets as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
2018
$
Segment assets

31 DECEMBER
2017
$

19,823,808

19,866,234

12,036,301

8,254,823

Intersegment eliminations
Unallocated:
Cash and cash equivalents
Deferred Asset
Total assets per the statement of financial position

-

248,944

31,860,109

28,370,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
2.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Reportable segment liabilities reconciled to total liabilities as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
Segment liabilities
Intersegment eliminations

9,548,071

8,428,371

-

-

-

4,766,449

Unallocated:
Borrowings
Financial liability - warrant
Total liabilities per the statement of financial position
(c)

832,879

248,766

10,380,950

13,443,586

Geographic segments revenue
The main geographic segments from which the Group derives its revenue are Australia of $14,704,884 (6 months to December
2017 $7,303,110) and the United States of $7,627,679 (6 months to December 2017 $2,629,812).

(d)

Major customers
Revenues of approximately $7,185,058 are derived from two external customers (31 December 2017: $2,877,686 of revenue
derived from two external customers). These revenues are attributed to the Infusion Business segment

3.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
Revenue from continuing operations
Sale of goods
At a point in time
659,628

82,546

13,872,708

7,425,942

ADAPT Business - Direct sales

6,840,352

2,038,728

ADAPT Business - Agent & distributor sales

4,228,409

1,757,863

25,601,097

11,305,079

Interest income

41,843

39,671

Grant income

62,500

365,336

317,678

-

6,600

1,965

428,621

406,972

Infusion Business - Capital sales
Infusion Business - Consumable sales

Other income

Foreign exchange gains
Sundry income
Total other income
Recognition and Measurement

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods for the Infusion and ADAPT business units is recognised when control of goods transfers to the customer.
Revenue is recognised at an amount which reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods. Revenue received for a contract that includes a variable amount is subject to revised conditions for recognition, whereby it must
be highly probable that no significant reversal of the variable amount may occur when the uncertainties around its measurement are
removed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
3.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

Recognition and Measurement (continued)
Interest
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.
Government Grants
Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the consolidated entity will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
statement of profit and loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
4.

EXPENSES
CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation

962,676

430,015

Amortisation

448,100

467,926

1,410,776

897,941

21,420,198

9,485,196

Superannuation expense

1,032,088

381,746

Other employee benefits

1,061,533

777,572

23,513,819

10,644,514

8,957

355,073

742,162

297,736

Interest and finance charges paid/payable

565,245

119,896

Amortisation of loan transactions costs

675,350

15,392

1,358,876

36,608

38,852

80,886

2,638,323

252,782

Employment expenses
Remuneration and on-costs

Share based payments
Operating lease rental expense
Finance costs

Warrant
Unwind of discount on non-current liabilities

Depreciation
Refer Note 7(b) for details on depreciation.
Employee Benefits
Refer Note 7(d) for details on employee provisions and employee superannuation and Note 19 for details on share based payments.
Leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses and
accounted for on a straight line basis in the periods in which they are incurred.
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5.

INCOME TAX

(a)

Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit to prima facie tax
payable

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense
Tax expense/(benefit) at the Australian tax rate of 27.5% (Six-month period to
31 December 2017: 27.5%)
Tax effect of amounts that are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable
income:
Share based payments
Non-deductible expenses - warrant
Sundry items - net non-deductible
Subtotal
Adjustment for difference in foreign tax rates

CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

(6,792,136)

(2,427,859)

2,463
406,033
702,334
(5,681,306)
676,969

96,873
181,446
(2,149,540)
47,974

Total tax expense/(benefit)

(5,004,337)

(2,101,566)

Deferred tax – current period benefits not recognised
Deferred tax – reversal of prior period temporary differences

(5,004,337)
-

(1,503,576)
(597,990)

Income tax expense/(benefit)

-

-

Further legislation was passed by the Australian Government in October 2018 to accelerate the planned reduction in the corporate tax
rate from 30% to 25% for small and medium business over a 5-year period. Admedus Limited expects to benefit from the reduced
corporate tax rates as a base rate entity with Australian turnover expected to be under the aggregated turnover threshold in the
foreseeable future. No change has been made to the 27.5% effective tax rate used for the measurement of the Australian deferred tax
balances.
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5.

INCOME TAX (continued)

(b)

Deferred Tax Assets

The composition and movement of deferred assets is as follows:
Recognised in
profit or loss
$

Balance
1 July 2017
$
Provisions

Balance
31 December
2017
$

Recognised
in profit or
loss
$

Recognised in
equity
$

Balance
31 December
2018
$

442,614

(56,066)

-

386,548

6,684

-

393,232

97,385

680,633

-

778,018

(515,661)

-

262,357

1,192,676

(889,803)

-

302,873

-

769,695

1,072,568

(492,574)

63,766

-

(428,808)

82,999

-

(345,809)

(1,305,435)

1,697,211

-

391,776

(438,580)

-

(46,804)

-

26,091

-

26,091

(26,091)

-

-

(65,334)

1,521,832

-

1,456,498

890,649

769,695

1,335,544

65,334

(1,521,832)

-

(1,456,498)

(890,649)

(769,695)

(1,335,544)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Accruals
Share issue costs
through equity
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangible assets

Recognised
in equity
$

Sundry - other
Sub-total
Unrecognised net
deferred tax assets
Tax assets

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:

Provisions

Assets
Liabilities
31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
2018
2017
$
$
$
$
393,232
386,548
-

Net
31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
393,232
386,548

262,357

778,018

-

-

262,357

778,018

1,072,568

302,873

-

-

1,072,568

302,873

Property, plant and equipment

-

-

(345,809)

(428,808)

(345,809)

(428,808)

Intangible assets

-

391,776

(46,804)

-

(46,804)

391,776

Sundry - other

-

26,091

-

-

-

26,091

Sub-total

1,728,157

1,885,306

(392,613)

(428,808)

1,335,544

1,456,498

Set off deferred tax liabilities

(392,613)

(428,808)

-

-

-

-

(1,335,544)

(1,456,498)

-

-

(1,335,544)

(1,456,498)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Accruals
Share issue costs through equity

Unrecognised net deferred tax assets
Tax assets
(c)

Tax losses
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised
Australian losses

44,271,983

41,853,035

Foreign losses
Sub-total
Potential tax benefit

37,850,651
82,122,634
20,423,951

30,251,390
72,104,425
18,125,932

All unused tax losses were incurred by Australian and foreign entities that are not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable
future. They can be carried forward indefinitely.
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5.

INCOME TAX (continued)

(d)

Recognition and Measurement

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences,
unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are
recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for:
•

When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable
profits; or

•

When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the timing
of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses.
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred tax assets
recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount
to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future
taxable profits available to recover the asset.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entity's which intend to settle simultaneously.
Tax Consolidation
Admedus Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation
legislation. The parent entity and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax
amounts.
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the parent entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group.
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from or
payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax funding arrangement ensures that the intercompany charge equals the
current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group member, resulting in neither a contribution by the head entity to the
subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head entity.
(e)

Critical accounting estimates

The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the
consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying
amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
Recovery of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses.
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Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank
Short term deposits
Total Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Total Trade and other receivables
Deferred asset
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Other payables
Total Trade and other payables
Deferred consideration
Provision for deferred settlement
Total Deferred consideration
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Total Financial liabilities
Financial Instruments
Warrant
Total Financial instruments
Total financial liabilities
6(a)

Notes

31 DECEMBER 2018 $
Current
Noncurrent

Total

31 DECEMBER 2017 $
Current
Noncurrent

Total

6(a)
6(a)

6,624,040
5,412,261
12,036,301

-

6,624,040
5,412,261
12,036,301

3,146,060
5,108,763
8,254,823

-

3,146,060
5,108,763
8,254,823

6(b)
6(b)

3,187,280
1,004,265
4,191,545
16,227,846

-

3,187,280
1,004,265
4,191,545
16,227,846

4,076,555
641,541
4,718,096
12,972,919

248,944
248,944

4,076,555
641,541
4,718,096
248,944
13,221,863

Notes

31 DECEMBER 2018 $
Current
Noncurrent

Total

31 DECEMBER 2017 $
Current
Noncurrent

Total

6(c)
6(c)

2,468,431
4,314,233
6,782,664

-

2,468,431
4,314,233
6,782,664

1,256,823
4,191,647
5,448,470

-

1,256,823
4,191,647
5,448,470

6(d)

400,000
400,000

778,409
778,409

1,178,409
1,178,409

400,000
400,000

1,150,619
1,150,619

1,550,619
1,550,619

6(e)

-

-

-

4,766,449
4,766,449

-

4,766,449
4,766,449

6(f)

832,879
832,879
8,015,543

778,409

832,879
832,879
8,793,952

248,766
248,766
10,863,685

1,150,619

248,766
248,766
12,014,304

Cash and cash equivalents

Recognition and measurement
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. For the statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents also includes bank
overdrafts, which are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.
Cash at Bank
These are interest bearing accounts held at bank with average interest rates of 1.34% (31 December 2017: 0.15%).
Short term deposits
These represent interest bearing short term deposits held at bank with average interest rate of 1.85% (31 December 2017: 2.34%)
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6(b)

Trade and other receivables

Recognition and measurement
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. They are generally due for settlement
within 30 days and therefore all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional. The Company holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Trade receivables are subject to the expected credit loss model. The Company applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Company, and a failure to
make contractual payments for a period greater than 120 days past due. Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries on amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any expected loss allowance.
Critical accounting estimates
The allowance for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of allowance is
assessed by considering the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and specific knowledge of the
individual debtor’s financial position.
Refer to Note 12 for information on the risk management policy of the Group.
Other receivables
Other receivables include prepayments and security deposits for rental of corporate offices.
Past due but not impaired
As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables of $73,258 (31 December 2017: $407,356) were past due but not impaired. These relate to
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. A significant portion of these trade receivables past due but not impaired have
been subsequently paid post 31 December 2018. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:
31 DECEMBER
2018
$
Over 90 days

73,258

31 DECEMBER
2017
$
407,356

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the history of these
other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

6(c)

Trade and other payables

Recognition and measurement
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial
period and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature, they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
Refer to Note 12 for information on the risk management policy of the Group.
6(d)

Deferred consideration

The deferred consideration balance relates to the acquisition by Admedus Ltd of the remaining 11.13% of the shares in Regen Pty Ltd
and the settlement of associated Federal Court proceedings. As a result of the settlement, the Group owns 100% of Admedus’
regenerative tissue technology ADAPT®. The present value of the remaining deferred consideration is $1,178,409, which is payable in 3
equal instalments to January 2021.
6(e)

Financial liabilities - borrowings
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$

Borrowings - current

-

5,000,000

Capitalised borrowing costs

-

(233,551)

-

4,766,449

Recognition and measurement
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
In October 2017, Admedus Limited entered into an agreement with Partners for Growth (PFG) for a secured debt facility of up to AUD
$10 million. PFG was granted a first-ranking security for the loans on all assets of the Company and most wholly-owned group companies.
In August 2018, Admedus Limited entered into a $5 million unsecured loan facility with Star Bright Holding Ltd (“Star Bright”). The
purpose of the loan was to repay the existing term loan from PFG. The PFG loan was fully repaid on 28 August 2018 and the security
granted under the loan was released.
In December 2018 the loan from Star Bright was repaid in full, through use of funds received from the renounceable rights issue of
shares. Refer to note 9(f) for further detail on the rights issue.
6(f)

Financial liabilities - warrant

Recognition and measurement
The warrant is a derivative with changes in fair value recognised in the profit or loss. Refer below for the method and assumptions used
in determining fair value of the derivative.
In conjunction with receiving the loan facility from PFG in October 2017, Admedus issued PFG a 7-year warrant for the issue of 4,938,799
ordinary shares in the Company at an exercise price of AUD$0.25 per share. The warrant expires on 26 October 2024. The holder of the
warrant also has the option to put the warrant to the Company for AUD$1,500,000 on expiry or on the occurrence of certain events.
Both these components need to be considered when determining the valuation of the warrant.
The value of the call option component of the warrant in relation to the issue of the shares has been determined using a Black Scholes
pricing model that incorporates a share price hurdle. The share price hurdle reflects the fact the call option will only be exercised in
circumstances where the value that can be derived from exercising the call option exceeds the value that can be derived from the put
option. The value of the put option is determined having regard to a discounted cash flow (‘DCF’) methodology to calculate its riskadjusted present value.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

6(g)

Cash flow information

Reconciliation of Loss After Income Tax to Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities
CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017
$
$
Loss for the period/year

(24,698,678)

(8,828,576)

1,410,776

897,941

Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortisation expense

8,957

355,073

Non-cash interest expense

1,943,079

132,886

Fair value of movement of warrant

(774,763)

211,342

-

(398,480)

Foreign exchange differences

(317,678)

(261,520)

Sundry

(657,229)

(503,374)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables

526,551

(562,587)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

(1,138,237)

(1,386,056)

1,334,193

3,580,847

157,716
(22,205,313)

136,197
(6,626,307)

Non-cash share expense - share based payments

Reclassification of software licenses

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Decrease)/increase in creditors
(Decrease)/increase in other provisions
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Non-cash investing and financing activities
The Group has no non-cash investing and financing activities.
Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017
$
$
Opening balance - Borrowings

4,766,449

-

Proceeds from borrowings

5,000,000

5,000,000

Repayment of borrowings

(10,000,000)

-

(192,856)

(497,888)

(5,192,856)

4,502,112

-

248,944

Changes from financing cash flows

Term facility transaction costs
Total changes from financing cash flows
Other changes
Deferred asset - term facility transaction costs
Non-cash interest expense

426,407

15,393

Interest expense

525,493

109,340

(525,493)
426,407

(109,340)
264,337

-

4,766,449

Interest paid
Total other changes
Closing balance - Borrowings
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Non-Financial assets
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-financing assets

Notes
7(a)
7(b)
7(c)

Financial liabilities
Provisions
Employee benefit provisions
Lease make good provisions
Total Provisions
Total non-financing liabilities

Notes

7(a)

7(d)(i)
7(d)(ii)

31 DECEMBER 2018 $
Current Non-current
Total
6,691,857
6,691,857
3,474,732
3,474,732
5,465,674
5,465,674
6,691,857
8,940,406
15,632,263
31 DECEMBER 2018 $
Current Non-current
1,022,305
564,693
1,586,998
1,586,998

-

Total
1,022,305
564,693
1,586,998
1,586,998

31 DECEMBER 2017 $
Current Non-current
Total
5,553,620
5,553,620
3,680,744
3,680,744
5,913,774
5,913,774
5,553,620
9,594,518
15,148,138
31 DECEMBER 2017 $
Current Non-current
875,651
875,651
875,651

553,631
553,631
553,631

Total
875,651
553,631
1,429,282
1,429,282

Inventories
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$

Raw materials – at cost

150,430

184,099

Work in progress – at cost

514,642

500,611

6,230,445

4,883,771

6,895,517

5,568,481

(203,660)

(14,861)

6,691,857

5,553,620

Finished goods – at cost
Provision for impairment of inventory

Inventory expense
Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to
$265,880 (Six months to 31 December 2017: $9,097).
Recognition and measurement
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a weighted average cost
formula. Cost comprises direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes, an appropriate proportion
of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity. Costs of purchased inventory are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts received or receivable.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Critical accounting estimates
The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of allowance is assessed
by considering the recent sales experience, the ageing of inventories and other factors that affect inventory obsolescence.
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Property, plant and equipment
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER 2018
Plant and
equipment
$

31 DECEMBER 2017

Software

Total

$

$

Plant and
equipment
$

Software

Total

$

$

Plant & equipment
5,379,366

1,754,014

7,133,380

4,954,668

1,401,595

6,356,263

(3,199,393)

(459,255)

(3,658,648)

(2,604,608)

(70,911)

(2,675,519)

2,179,973

1,294,759

3,474,732

2,350,060

1,330,684

3,680,744

2,350,060

1,330,684

3,680,744

2,355,996

-

2,355,996

Additions

406,167

277,579

683,746

353,168

1,401,595

1,754,763

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

(585,919)

(376,757)

(962,676)

(359,104)

(70,911)

(430,015)

9,665

63,253

72,918

-

-

-

2,179,973

1,294,759

3,474,732

2,350,060

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Reconciliation
Opening net book amount

Depreciation charge
Exchange rate differences
Closing net book amount

1,330,684

3,680,744

Recognition and measurement
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment
Software

3-10 years
3-7 years
3-5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
Leasehold improvements and plant and equipment under lease are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated
useful life of the assets, whichever is shorter.
An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the consolidated
entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. Any revaluation reserve
relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits.
Costs incurred in developing software products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licences that will contribute to
future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and systems. Costs
capitalised include external direct costs of materials and services and direct payroll related costs of employees’ time spent on the project.
Software development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only recognised following
completion of technical feasibility and where the Group has an intention and ability to use the asset.
Critical accounting estimates
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its plant and
equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly because of technical innovations or some other
event. The depreciation and amortization charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off.
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7(c)

Intangibles
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
328,725

362,740

Intellectual property

1,653,640

1,903,025

Technology Licence

1,894,016

2,058,716

Goodwill

1,589,293

1,589,293

5,465,674

5,913,774

Opening net book value

362,740

279,582

Additions - acquisitions

-

161,369

Patents

Reconciliation - Patents

Amortisation

(34,015)

(78,211)

Closing net book value

328,725

362,740

1,903,025

2,027,721

Reconciliation – Intellectual property
Opening net book value
Amortisation
Closing net book value

(249,385)

(124,696)

1,653,640

1,903,025

2,058,716

2,323,732

Reconciliation – Technology Licence
Opening net book value
Amortisation

(164,700)

(265,016)

1,894,016

2,058,716

Opening net book value

1,589,293

1,589,293

Closing net book value

1,589,293

1,589,293

Closing net book value
Reconciliation – Goodwill

Critical accounting estimates
The consolidated entity tests goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are determined based on either value-in-use
calculations or fair value less cost of disposal. Value-in-use calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates
based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows.
The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets at
each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the consolidated entity and to the asset that may lead to impairment. If an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or valuein-use calculations, which incorporate several key estimates and assumptions.
Impairment assessment of technology licence and goodwill
The value of the technology licence and goodwill from the Admedus Vaccines transaction were subject to impairment testing at 31
December 2018 with no impairment arising as the recoverable amount was in excess of the associated cash generating unit. The
impairment test was performed by determining a value for the Admedus Vaccines’ assets based on the announced proposed funding
arrangement with Star Bright Holding Ltd. Under the executed Memorandum of Understanding, Admedus will hold 29.1% of a new
company which will own Admedus Vaccines, and Star Bright will contribute $18 million to the new company for 60% of the equity in this
company.
As at 31 December 2017, the Company performed a review of the key assumptions applied for the 30 June 2017 impairment test
performed by Glasshouse Advisory (independent IP valuers), as detailed below. As there were found to be no material changes to these
assumptions or the composition of the cash generating unit, the previous outcome of no impairment was determined to be accurate for
the current reporting period end.
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7(c)

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)
Intangibles (continued)

Impairment assessment of technology licence and goodwill (continued)
The fair value assessment at 30 June 2017 by Glasshouse Advisory used an income approach and Risk Adjusted Discounted Cash Flow
method. A licensing business model was assumed, with the Company’s forecast earnings stream based on royalty income received from
a hypothetical licensee. This methodology is commonly used to value pre-revenue companies and, despite the uncertainty inherent to
development technology, it is the method of investors in pharmaceutical and biotech start-up and pre-revenue companies. The discount
rate applied to cash flow projections was 24.7% (2016: 24.6%) and cash flows were calculated using Implied Peak Sales of $2.3B to $2.5B
for HSV-2 (2016: HSV-2 $2.0B to$3.8B and HPV $1.2B) using a cumulative probability of success of 23.7% HSV-2 (2016: 24% HSV-2 and
14% HPV) and royalty of 5% (2016: 4.75%).
Impairment assessment of intellectual property and patents
The value of the intellectual property and patents for the ADAPT business were subject to impairment testing at 31 December 2018 with
no impairment arising as the recoverable amount was in excess of the associated cash generating unit. The impairment test was
performed by performing a discounted cashflow valuation methodology calculation. These calculations use cash flow projections based
on financial forecasts determined by management. Terminal cash flows are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 2.5%. In
performing these calculations, the Group has applied a post-tax discount rate of 20% (equivalent to a pre-tax discount rate of 22%). The
values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and were based on both
external and internal sources.
As at 31 December 2017 the Group assessed whether any indicators of impairment existed at reporting date for the intellectual property
and patents for the ADAPT business. No indicators were identified at this point in time.
Recognition and measurement
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at the date
of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible assets are not amortised
and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less
amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising from the de-recognition of intangible assets are
measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset.
The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or
useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or period.
Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed.
Research and development
Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are capitalised, up to the stage of
commercialization, when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and technical feasibility; the
consolidated entity can use or sell the asset; the consolidated entity has sufficient resources; and intent to complete the development
and its costs can be measured reliably. Capitalised development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their
expected benefit.
Patents and trademarks
Significant costs associated with patents and trademarks are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their
expected benefit, being their finite life of up to 20 years.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present value
of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.
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NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

7(d)

Provisions

(i)

Employee benefits

The current provision for employee benefits includes accrued annual leave, vesting sick leave and long service leave. Long service leave
covers all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required period of service and those where employees are
entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The entire amount of the provision is presented as current, since the Group does
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, based on experience, the Group does not
expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months.
(ii)

Lease make good

The lease make good provision relates to the removing of lease hold improvements including laboratories and clean rooms in accordance
with the lease agreements. The provision is based on an independent valuation.
Critical accounting estimate
The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised
for each site is periodically reviewed and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated
future costs for sites are recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting the asset and the provision. Reductions in the
provision that exceed the carrying amount of the asset will be recognised in profit or loss.
(iii)

Recognition and measurement

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation due to a past event, it is probable
the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting
date, considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted
using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a
finance cost.
Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Other long-term employee benefits
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured as
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Defined contribution superannuation expense
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The entity recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is
within the scope of AASB 137 and involves the payment of terminations benefits.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three-level hierarchy,
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement
date
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
Consolidated – 31 December 2018

$

Liabilities
Warrant
Total liabilities

Consolidated – 31 December 2017
Liabilities
Warrant
Total liabilities

$
-

$

832,879
832,879

$
-

832,879
832,879

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

$

$

$

-

248,766
248,766

-

248,766
248,766

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to
their short-term nature.
Recognition and measurement
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair value is
based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principle market; or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
they act in their economic best interest. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best use.
Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
are used, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed each reporting date and transfers between levels are
determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not available
or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge and reputation. Where
there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes
a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, where applicable, with external sources of data.
Critical accounting estimates
Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to fair value and therefore which category the asset or liability is
placed in can be subjective.
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CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

(a)

Share Capital

SHARES
31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER
2018
2017

31 DECEMBER
2018

589,941,088

254,795,534

137,737,211

No. shares

Issue Price

$

31 DECEMBER
2017

Ordinary shares
Fully paid
Date
(b)

Notes

106,025,631
$

Movements in Ordinary Share Capital

Details
Balance

30/06/17

254,795,534

106,025,631

-

-

254,795,534

106,025,631

Nil movement
Balance

31/12/17

Share Placement to new investors

(b)

17,666,667

0.30

5,300,000

Share Placement to Directors

(c)

2,333,333

0.30

700,000

Share Purchase Plan

(d)

9,203,573

0.30

2,761,072

Share Placement - Star Bright

(e)

42,599,866

0.10

4,259,987

Share Placement - Star Bright

(e)

26,289,636

0.1303

3,425,540

Rights Issue

(f)

237,052,479

0.08

-

Transaction costs
Balance
(a)

31/12/18

589,941,088

18,964,197
(3,699,216)
137,737,211

Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds of winding up of the Company in proportion to the number
of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting, in person or by proxy,
is entitled to one vote and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.
(b)

Share Placement to new investors

On 16 May 2018, new investors made an investment in the Group of 17,666,667 shares at $0.30 per share.
(c)

Share Placement to Directors

On 28 June 2018, a further 2,333,333 shares at $0.30 were subscribed to Directors following shareholder approval at an Extraordinary
General Meeting.
(d) Share Purchase Plan
All shareholders were invited to participate in a Share Purchase Plan, resulting in a subscription of 9,203,573 shares at $0.30 per share
on 4 June 2018.
(e)

Share placement – Star Bright

Star Bright Holding Ltd (“Star Bright”) made additional investments in the Group, structured as follows:
Placement of 42,599,866 shares at a place of $0.10 per share, issued on 22 August 2018.
Placement of 26,289,636 shares at a price of $0.1303 per share, issued on 4 September 2018.
(f)

Rights Issue

On 18 December 2018, a renounceable rights issue of shares was undertaken at an issue price of $0.08 per share, with an attaching
listed option for each share issued. The total number of listed options issued was 237,052,479.
64
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(g)

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)
Recognition and measurement

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
(h)

Capital Risk Management

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern and to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Board of Directors monitors capital as part of each Board meeting or more frequently as required. No formal targets are in place for
return on capital or gearing ratios as the Group has not derived any income from the developing technology. The Group defines capital
as equity and net debt.
10.

EQUITY – RESERVES
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
2018
$

(a)

31 DECEMBER
2017
$

Reserves

Share based payments
Other reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve

Reconciliation - Share based payment

Balance

Date

01/07/2017

No. options/
warrants

4,976,365

4,967,408

(7,243,027)

(7,243,027)

(674,726)

(205,611)

(2,941,388)

(2,481,230)

Valuation
$

15,003,340

$

4,612,335

Unlisted options issued

1,150,000

0.15

15,338

Unlisted options issued

500,000

0.13

4,169

Unlisted options cancelled

(858,333)

Share based payments expense
Balance

335,566
31/12/2017

15,795,007

4,967,408

Unlisted options issued

4,371,130

0.17

290,656

Unlisted options issued

2,150,000

0.18

113,663

Unlisted options cancelled

(4,371,922)

Share based payments expense
Balance

(395,362)
31/12/2018

17,944,215

4,976,365

Note: In addition to the options and warrants noted above, Admedus issued PFG a 7-year warrant for the issue of 4,938,799 ordinary
shares in the Company at an exercise price of AUD$0.25 per share in October 2017. Refer to note 6(f) for further information on this
warrant.

50
65

Admedus January – December 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
10.

EQUITY – RESERVES (continued)
CONSOLIDATED

Reconciliation – Foreign currency translation reserve

31 DECEMBER
2018
$

31 DECEMBER
2017
$

Opening balances

(205,611)

363,310

Foreign exchange on subsidiaries

(469,115)

(568,921)

Closing balance

(674,726)

(205,611)

(b)

Nature and purpose

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the change in equity associated with a share based payment.
The other reserve reflects the additional consideration paid by the Company to acquire a portion of the remaining non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary.
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations to Australian dollars, in addition to exchange differences on an entity’s net investment in foreign operations.
11.

LOSS PER SHARE
CONSOLIDATED

(a)

12 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
2018
Number

6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
2017
Number

305,513,354

254,795,534

-

-

n/a

n/a

Weighted Average Number of Shares Used as the Denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the denominator in calculating basic loss
per share
Adjustment for calculation of diluted loss per share:
Options
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the denominator in calculating diluted loss
per share

(b)

Loss Used in Calculating Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share
(c)

$

$

(24,217,169)

(8,631,786)

Cents

Cents

(7.93)

(3.39)

n/a

n/a

Information concerning classification of securities

Options:
No listed or unlisted options of Admedus Limited have been included in the determination of basic loss per share because all options on
issue have an exercise price above the market share price of the Company as at period end.
Details relating to options granted under the Admedus Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) are outlined in Note 19(a).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks (including interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk). The Group’s overall
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed.
These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate risk, ageing analysis for credit risk and review of foreign exchange
risk.
Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors with assistance from suitably qualified external advisors. Interest rate risk is
managed for financial assets by investing in higher yielding term deposits with large financial institutions. Credit risk is monitored by
regular age analysis of debtors as well as the initial assessment of the credit worthiness of counterparties.
The Group and the Company hold the following financial instruments:
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Deferred asset
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred consideration
Borrowings
Warrant
Net financial assets

12,036,301
4,191,545
16,227,846

8,254,823
4,718,096
248,944
13,221,863

6,782,664
1,178,409
832,879
8,793,952
7,433,894

5,448,470
1,550,619
4,766,449
248,766
12,014,304
1,207,559

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of the financial instruments is to fund the Group’s operations.
It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.
The main risks arising from the Group are cash flow (interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk). The Board reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised as follows:
(a)

Market Risk

Cash flow and interest rate risk
The Group’s only interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held. Term deposits and current accounts held with variable
interest rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Company does not consider this to be material to the Group and has
therefore not undertaken any further analysis of risk exposure.
The following sets out the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, including the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity
periods:

31 December 2018 Consolidated
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Note

Weighted average
interest rate

Total
$

6(a)

1.57%

12,036,301

6(a)

1.45%

8,254,823

31 December 2017 Consolidated
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Market Risk (continued)

Cash flow and interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity
At 31 December 2018, if interest rates had increased by 50 basis points or decreased by 50 basis points from the period end rates with
all other variables held constant, the impact on post-tax loss for the period based on the average cash balance would have been $50,728
lower/$50,728 higher (31 December 2017 changes 50 basis points: $48,789 lower/ $48,789 higher), mainly because of higher/lower
interest income from cash and cash equivalents.
(b)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial
institutions, as well as credit exposures to retail customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of 'A' are accepted. Otherwise, if there is no
independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, considering its financial position, experience and other
factors. Individual risk limits are set in accordance with Company policy. The compliance with credit limits by wholesale customers is
regularly monitored by line management.
For some receivables in Note 6 the Group obtained deposits to cover the cost of defaults by customers. The credit quality of financial
assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical
information about counterparty default rates.
(c)

Foreign currency risk management

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures.
The Group regularly monitors the level of foreign currency exposure and where appropriate, considers the use of foreign exchange
contracts to manage significant exposures. There were no foreign exchange contracts entered at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017:
nil).
The following table includes the financial assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective entities and presents the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in Australian
Dollars. The Group’s manufacturing facilities are based in Australia and the sales for the ADAPT Business to the markets in the USA, Europe
and Asia creates an AUD denominated foreign exchange risk in the respective entities.
At 31 December 2018

Cash and cash
equivalents
$
8,854
478
6,831
16,163

Trade and other
receivables
$
184,911
115,523
3,252
303,686

Trade and other
payables
$
(134,627)
(563)
(10,862)
(146,052)

Related party
payables
$

Total

Cash and cash
equivalents
$
85,060
76,210
18,415
179,685

Trade and other
receivables
$
224,729
97,259
10,804
332,792

Trade and other
payables
$
(411,463)
(32,504)
(443,967)

Related party
payables
$

Total

$

59,138
115,438
(779)
(7,246,795)
(7,072,998)
)
Based on the 2018 balances, a 10% stronger/(weaker) Australian dollar against the currencies held, would result in a Profit & Loss impact
of $643,000/ ($787,820).
USD
GBP
CHF
AUD
Total

At 31 December 2017
USD
GBP
CHF
EUR
AUD
Total

(7,246,795)
(7,246,795)

(3,065,858)
(3,065,858)

$
(101,674)
173,469
29,219
(32,504)
(3,065,858)
(2,997,348)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Liquidity Risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash balances and access to equity and debt funding.
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to cash assets and floating interest rates. The Group
does not have significant interest-bearing liabilities and is not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates.
The Directors monitor the cash-burn rate of the Group on an ongoing basis against budget. As at reporting date the Group had sufficient
cash reserves to meet its requirements. The Group has no access to credit standby facilities or arrangements for further funding or
borrowings in place.
The financial liabilities the Group had at reporting date were trade payables incurred in the normal course of the business. These were
non-interest bearing and were due within the normal terms of creditor payments. The Company has also issued a warrant which expires
on 26 October 2024. The holder has the ability to convert the warrant to shares or to put that warrant to the Company for $1,500,000.
Maturities of financial liabilities
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting
date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than
6 months
$
Group – At 31 December 2018
Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Deferred consideration
Total non-derivatives
Derivatives
Warrant
Total derivatives

6-12
months
$

1-2 years
$

2-5 years
$

Total
contractual
cash flows
$

Over 5
years
$

Carrying
amount
(assets)/
liabilities
$

6,782,664
400,000
7,182,664

-

400,000
400,000

400,000
400,000

-

6,782,664
1,200,000
7,982,664

6,782,664
1,178,409
7,961,073

-

-

-

-

1,500,000

1,500,000

832,879

-

-

-

-

1,500,000

1,500,000

832,879

5,448,470
795,382
400,000
6,643,852

1,300,278
1,300,278

2,595,660
400,000
2,995,660

1,947,153
800,000
2,747,153

-

5,448,470
6,638,473
1,600,000
13,686,943

5,448,470
6,638,473
1,550,619
13,637,562

-

-

-

-

1,500,000
1,500,000

1,500,000
1,500,000

248,766
248,766

Group – At 31 December 2017
Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Deferred consideration
Total non-derivatives
Derivatives
Warrant
Total derivatives
(e)

Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.
The carrying value less impairment provision of receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their
short-term nature.
The consolidated entity’s principal financial instruments consist of cash and deposits with banks, accounts receivable, trade payables
and loans payable. The main purpose of these non-derivative financial instruments is to finance the entity’s operations.
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CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiary in accordance with the
accounting policy.
Name of entity

Class of
share

Country of
Incorporation

Accounting Parent Entity

Equity Holding
31 December 31 December
2018
2017
%
%

Australia

100

100

Ordinary

Australia

-

-

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

New Zealand
Australia
Australia
USA
Australia
Switzerland
Australia
Singapore

100
100
100
100
72.8
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
72.8
100
100
100

Admedus Investments Pty Limited

Cost to Company
31 December 31 December
2018
2017
$
$
30,263,471

30,263,471

-

-

1
892,989
16,347,175
104
13,000,049
23,151
1
1

1
892,989
16,347,175
104
13,000,049
23,151
1
1

Legal Parent Entity
Admedus Limited
Controlled Entities
Admedus (NZ) Limited
Admedus (Australia) Pty Limited
Admedus Regen Pty Limited
Admedus Corporation
Admedus Vaccines Pty Limited
Admedus Sarl
Admedus Biomanufacturing Pty Ltd
Admedus (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.
14.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$

Interest in:
Share Capital
Reserves
Accumulated Retained Earnings

-

-

7,243,027

7,243,027

(7,604,736)

(8,086,245)

(361,709)

(843,218)

Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.
The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.
Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd
31 December
2018
$

31 December
2017
$

650,742

1,192,505

Current liabilities

1,215,379

147,131

Current net assets

(564,637)

1,045,374

Non-current assets

1,895,918

2,058,116

-

-

Non-current net assets

1,895,918

2,058,116

Net assets

1,331,281

3,103,490

361,709

843,218

Current assets

Non-current liabilities

Accumulated non-controlling interests
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14.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)
Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd
12 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
2018
$

6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
2017
$
-

-

(1,766,577)

(724,291)

Loss allocated to non-controlling interests

(481,509)

(196,790)

Cash flows from operating activities

(123,142)

(860,910)

Cash flows from investing activities

-

1,087

Cash flows from financing activities

-

-

(123,142)

(859,823)

Revenue
Loss for the period/Total comprehensive loss

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
(a)

Transactions with non-controlling interests

There were no transactions with non-controlling interests in the year ending 31 December 2018 (Six-month period to 31 December
2017: Nil).
15.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

The following details information related to the legal parent entity, Admedus Limited, at 31 December 2018. The information presented
here has been prepared using consistent Admedus’ accounting policies.

Current assets

THE COMPANY
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
11,602,078
6,673,558

Non-current assets

15,129,987

18,038,170

Total assets

26,732,065

24,711,728

Current liabilities

(4,485,246)

(8,265,249)

(778,409)

(2,079,828)

(5,263,655)

(10,345,077)

162,308,789

130,384,683

Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity

(8,268,495)

5,495,491

(132,571,884)

(121,513,523)

21,468,410

14,366,651

12 MONTHS TO

6 MONTHS TO

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2018
Statement of comprehensive income
Loss for the period/year

2017

$

$

(11,058,361)

(5,926,210)

Other comprehensive loss for the period/year

-

-

Total comprehensive loss for the period/year

(11,058,361)

(5,926,210)
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15.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION (continued)

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
There were no contingent liabilities in relation to the current reporting period.
Commitments of the parent entity
Total expenditure commitments at reporting date not provided for in the financial statements:
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
Operating Lease Commitments
Future operating lease commitments not provided for in the financial statements and
payable:
Within one year

78,477

157,282

Later than one year but no later than five years

55,878

29,369

Later than five years

-

-

134,355

186,651

The Company leases office space in Brisbane under an operating lease that expires in January 2019 and has several leases for IT
equipment.
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the parent entity’s financial statements.
16.

COMMITMENTS

Total expenditure commitments at reporting date not provided for in the financial statements
CONSOLIDATED
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
Operating Lease Commitments
Future operating lease commitments not provided for in the financial statements and
payable:
Within one year
Later than one year but no later than five years
Later than five years

451,846

519,492

1,074,545

581,438

-

-

1,526,391

1,100,930

The Company leases office space in Brisbane under an operating lease that expires in January 2019 and has several leases for IT
equipment.
Admedus Biomanufacturing Pty Ltd leases office and laboratory space under operating leases that expire in January 2019*, and
photocopiers expiring August 2019.
Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd leases office and lab space under an operating lease that expires January 2019.
Admedus Corporation leases office space in Minnesota USA under an operating lease that expires December 2022.
Admedus Sarl leases office space in Geneva, Switzerland under an operating lease that expires June 2023.
* A renewal of the lease was signed in January 2019 for 5 years with an additional 5 year option to extend the lease to January 2029.
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17.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no contingent liabilities in relation to the current reporting period.
18.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial period and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of
a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group,
the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.
19.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

(a)

Employee Share Option Plan

The Admedus Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) was approved by shareholders at the 2017 Annual General Meeting. Eligible
employees can participate in the Plan. The previous ESOP in place for the Company was approved by shareholders at the 2015 Annual
General Meeting.
The key terms of both ESOP’s include:
- Options are issued to selected Eligible Employees for nil cost;
- The allotment of options is at the discretion of the Board of Directors;
- Shares allotted on the exercise of the options are to be issued at an exercise price determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion;
- Options expire 5 years after the grant date under the old plan, and 10 years under the new plan;
- Options are unlisted and not transferable unless the Directors in their absolute discretion agree to a transfer; and
- Options carry no dividend rights or voting rights.
The Company issued 6,521,130 staff options over ordinary shares in the Company under the new plan during the twelve months to 31
December 2018 (six months to 31 December 2017: 1,650,000). These were split as follows:
-

On 8 June 2018, the Company issued 4,371,130 options to the executive director and employees under the ESOP (relating to the
Long Term Incentive Scheme) at an exercise price of $0.37 (Tranche G).
On 8 June 2018, the Company issued 2,150,000 options to employees under the ESOP (relating to sign on options committed under
the employment contracts) at an exercise price of $0.30 (Tranche H).

Set out below are summaries of options granted by Admedus Limited:
Grant date

Expiry date

31 December 2018
18/06/2013
16/12/2013
28/03/2014
21/05/2014
05/11/2014
30/06/2015
21/07/2015
10/12/2015
10/12/2015
24/06/2016
15/09/2016
15/09/2016
18/11/2016
23/03/2017
22/09/2017
17/11/2017
08/06/2018
08/06/2018

18/06/2018
16/12/2018
01/02/2019
21/05/2019
05/11/2019
30/06/2020
21/07/2020
10/12/2020
10/12/2020
24/06/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
18/11/2021
23/03/2022
22/09/2022
15/12/2022
31/12/2027
31/12/2027

Total
Weighted average exercise price

Exercise
price
$
0.95
2.70
2.45
1.70
2.10
1.17
1.44
0.83
1.39
0.30
0.33
0.33
0.34
0.34
0.26
0.22
0.30
0.37

Forfeited
during the
period
Number

Lapsed
during the
period
Number

Balance at start
of the period
Number

Granted during
the period
Number

Balance at end
of the period
Number

1,388,340
710,000
200,000
900,000
310,000
1,635,000
1,030,000
425,000
200,000
150,000
450,000
50,000
66,667
1,000,000
1,150,000
500,000
-

2,150,000
4,371,130

(100,000)
(100,000)
(60,000)
(235,000)
(50,000)
(450,000)
(50,000)
(550,000)
(400,000)
(50,000)
(25,000)
(203,582)

(1,388,340)
(710,000)
-

200,000
800,000
210,000
1,575,000
795,000
425,000
200,000
100,000
66,667
450,000
750,000
450,000
2,125,000
4,167,548

10,165,007

6,521,130

(2,273,582)

(2,098,340)

12,314,215

$1.07

$0.35

$0.60

$1.54

$0.70

Value at
grant date
$
0.33
1.01
0.90
0.75
0.70
0.43
0.41
0.58
0.52
0.16
0.19
0.19
0.21
0.20
0.15
0.13
0.18
0.17
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19.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(a) Employee Share Option Plan (continued)
Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise
price
$

31 December 2017
18/06/2013
16/12/2013
28/03/2014
21/05/2014
05/11/2014
30/06/2015
21/07/2015
10/12/2015
10/12/2015
24/06/2016
15/09/2016
15/09/2016
18/11/2016
23/03/2017
22/09/2017
17/11/2017

18/06/2018
16/12/2018
01/02/2019
21/05/2019
05/11/2019
30/06/2020
21/07/2020
10/12/2020
10/12/2020
24/06/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
18/11/2021
23/03/2022
22/09/2022
15/12/2022

0.95
2.70
2.45
1.70
2.10
1.17
1.44
0.83
1.39
0.30
0.33
0.33
0.33
0.34
0.26
0.22

1,388,340
710,000
200,000
900,000
310,000
1,635,000
1,030,000
425,000
200,000
150,000
475,000
50,000
200,000
1,700,000
-

1,150,000
500,000

-

(25,000)
(133,333)
(700,000)
-

1,388,340
710,000
200,000
900,000
310,000
1,635,000
1,030,000
425,000
200,000
150,000
450,000
50,000
66,667
1,000,000
1,150,000
500,000

1,650,000

-

(858,333)

10,165,007

$0.25

-

$0.34

$1.07

Weighted average exercise price

(b)

Lapsed
during the
year
Number

Granted during
the year
Number

9,373,340

Total

Forfeited
during the
period
Number

Balance at start
of the year
Number

$1.15

Balance at end
of the year
Number

Value at
grant date
$
0.33
1.01
0.90
0.75
0.70
0.43
0.41
0.58
0.52
0.16
0.19
0.19
0.21
0.20
0.15
0.13

Expenses Arising from Share Based Payment Transactions

Total expenses arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the period were as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
Options issued under employee share option plan

8,957

355,073

Total expenses from share-based transactions

8,957

355,073

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the period ended 31 December 2018 was 17.0 cents per option for
Tranche G, and 18.0 cents per option for Tranche H. The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model
that considers the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility
of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.
The model inputs for options granted during the period ended 31 December 2018 included:
Tranche G
Exercise price:

Tranche H

$0.37

$0.30

Grant date:

8 June 2018

8 June 2018

Expiry date:

31 December 2027

31 December 2027

Share price at grant date:

$0.26

$0.26

Expected price volatility of the
Company’s shares:

70%

70%

Risk-free interest rate:

2.18%

2.18%

Fair value at grant date:

$0.17

$0.18
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19.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair Value of Options Granted

All Tranches of options are granted for no consideration and vest based on the holder still being employed by Admedus Limited over a
three-year period. Vested options are exercisable for a period up to the expiry date.
The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any expected
changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.
(d)

Recognition and measurement

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees.
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares that are provided to employees in exchange for the rendering
of services.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using either
the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of
dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the
risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the consolidated
entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period. The
cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number of
awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the
cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous periods.
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore, any awards subject to market conditions are
considered to vest irrespective of whether that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are satisfied.
If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An additional
expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
compensation benefit as at the date of modification.
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as
a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting
period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited.
If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense is
recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award is treated as
if they were a modification.
20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

Parent Entity

The parent entity within the Group is Admedus Limited.
(b)

Subsidiary

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 13.
(c) Key Management Personnel compensation

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits
Share based benefits

31 December
2018 $
2,652,405
87,748
568,776
276,008
3,584,937

31 December
2017 $
2,092,925
47,400
278,255
24,706
2,443,286

Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel includes salaries and non-cash benefits.
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(d)

Transactions with Related Parties

In April 2018, Admedus signed a Memorandum of Understanding with shareholder Star Bright Holding Limited (“Star Bright” for an
investment of $18 million in a new company who will own Admedus Vaccines Pty Limited, providing a 60% equity interest in this new
company. As part of this arrangement Star Bright paid Admedus Vaccines $1 million over two instalments which secured a twelve-month
exclusivity period to finalise the terms of an agreement. If this agreement goes ahead the $1 million will convert to capital forming part
of the $18 million investment.
On 18 December 2018, as part of the renounceable rights issue two Directors of the Company, Chairman John Seaberg and Executive
Director and CEO Wayne Paterson, agreed to take up their respective entitlements and underwrite the entitlement offer for a total
amount of $50,000 each. The Directors were not paid a fee for their underwriting.
In addition, Star Bright agreed to take up its entitlement of $4 million under the entitlement offer, and underwrite the entitlement offer
for $1 million. Star Bright received a fee of 3% on the underwritten amount of $1 million. The Company used the proceeds to repay the
$5 million loan advanced by Star Bright during the period, as shown in note 20(e) below.
(e)

Loans to/from Related Parties

Loan from Star Bright Holding Limited (shareholder)

CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO
6 MONTHS TO
31 DECEMBER
31 DECEMBER
2018
2017
$
$
-

-

5,000,000

-

(5,000,000)

-

Beginning of the period
Loans advanced
Loan repayments made
Interest charged
Interest paid

82,192

-

(82,192)

-

-

End of the period
21.

-

DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been declared or paid during the period.
Recognition and measurement
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial period and no longer at the discretion of the company.
22.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

During the period, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related
practices and non-related audit firms:
CONSOLIDATED
12 MONTHS TO

6 MONTHS TO

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2018
$

2017
$

87,000

45,000

Audit Services
HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership)
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the
Corporations Act 2001

It is the Group’s policy to employ HLB Mann Judd on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where HLB’s and expertise
and experience with the Group are important, but only if it would not compromise their independence.
No non-audit services were provided by HLB Mann Judd (WA partnership).
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23.

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements to
the extent they have not been disclosed in the other notes above. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the consolidated group which consists of Admedus Limited
(Company) and its controlled entities. The Company is a listed, for profit, public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (“AASBs”) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AABS”) and the Corporations Act
2001. The consolidated financial statements comply with the Australian equivalents to the International Financial Reporting Standards
(“AIFRS”). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial reporting, comprising of the financial statements and notes there to,
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue on
28 February 2018.
(b)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or other
assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued or
liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For
each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit or loss.
On the acquisition of a business, the consolidated entity assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the consolidated entity's operating or
accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date.
Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the consolidated entity re-measures its previously held equity interest in
the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value on the acquisition-date. Subsequent changes in
the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration
classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the acquiree is recognised
as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on
the acquisition-date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquirer.
Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts
recognised and recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, based on new information obtained about
the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The measurement period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 months
from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer receives all the information possible to determine fair value.
(c)

Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Admedus Limited's functional and presentation currency. Figures
presented in the financial report are rounded to the nearest dollar.
Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at financial year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting date.
The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the average exchange rates, which
approximates the rate at the date of the transaction, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income through the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.
The foreign currency translation reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net investment is disposed of.
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23.

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. An asset is
current when: it is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for trading;
it is expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted
from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified
as non-current.
A liability is current when: it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for trading; it is due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.
(e)

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset.
A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and
benefits incidental to ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under which the lessor effectively retains substantially all such
risks and benefits.
Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established at the fair value of the leased assets, or if lower, the present
value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease liability and the
finance costs, to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Leased assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the asset's useful life or over the shorter of the asset's useful life and
the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the consolidated entity will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.
(f)

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from
the tax authority. In this case, it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which
are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.
(g)

New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

Standards and Interpretations applicable to 31 December 2018
The Company has applied the following standards for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2018:
•

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, which replaces the provisions of AASB 139 that relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and hedge
accounting. The Company’s trade receivables are subject to AASB 9’s new expected credit loss model. The Company has adopted
the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. Refer to note 6(b) for the new accounting policy. There was no
material impact on the Company’s results for the year ended 31 December 2018.

•

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. AASB 15 supersedes AASB 118 Revenue. and is based on the principle of
recognition of revenue from the sale of goods when control of goods transfers to the customer. The Company’s new accounting
policy for revenue has been disclosed within note 3. There has been no material impact on the Company’s results for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 31 December 2018 reporting
period and have not been early adopted by the Company.
The key new standard reviewed by the Company was AASB 16 Leases, which addresses the classification, measurement and recognition
of leases. The changes will primarily affect the accounting by lessees and will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance
sheet. The standard removes the current distinction between operating and financing leases and requires recognition of an asset (the right
to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals. The exceptions are short-term and low value leases. The nature of expenses
related to leases will change, because the Company will recognise a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest expense on
lease liabilities. As at 31 December 2018, the Company had operating lease commitments of $1.5 million, refer note 16.
The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
The Directors of the Company declare that:
1.

The financial statements, comprising the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of consolidated statement of
profit or loss, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flow, consolidated statements of
changes in equity, accompanying notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
(a)

comply with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)

give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 December 2018 and of the performance for the financial year
ended on that date of the consolidated entity;

(c)

comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 23(a) to the financial statements.

2.

In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable.

3.

The remuneration disclosures included in the Director’s Report (as part of the Remuneration Report) for the period ended 31
December 2018, comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

4.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by section 295A
of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the directors by:

John Seaberg
Chairman
Dated 28 February 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of Admedus Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Admedus Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled entities
(“the Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
a)

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2018 and of its
financial performance for the year then ended; and

b)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has
been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as
at the time of this auditor’s report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Material uncertainty related to going concern
We draw attention to Note 1(a) in the financial report, which indicates that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Carrying value of intangible assets
(Refer Note 7(c))
As at 31 December 2018, the Group has an intangible
assets balance of $5.5 million which relates to patents,
intellectual property, a technology licence and
goodwill.
Under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, goodwill is
subject to an annual impairment test and other finite
life intangible assets are subject to an impairment test
should indicators of impairment arise.
A total of $2.0 million of the intangible assets balance
at 31 December 2018 relates to the ADAPT product
portfolio. As impairment indicators were present,
Management have allocated these intangible assets to
a cash-generating unit and performed an impairment
assessment using a fair value less costs of disposal
approach.

For the intangible assets which relate to the
ADAPT product portfolio, our procedures
included but were not limited to:
-

-

-

The remaining intangible assets balance of $3.5
million relates to the HPV and HSV-2 vaccines
(inclusive of goodwill). At 31 December 2018,
management allocated these intangible assets to a
cash generating unit and performed an impairment
assessment using a fair value less costs of disposal
approach.

-

We consider the recoverable amount of intangible
assets to be a key audit matter as it involves complex
matters involving subjectivity and judgement, it is
material to the users’ understanding of the financial
statements as a whole and it required significant
auditor attention and communication with those
charged with governance.

-

-

-

Consideration of any indicators of
impairment, both internal and external,
which would suggest that the cash
generating unit’s assets may be
impaired;
Considering whether the assets
comprising the cash generating unit had
been correctly allocated;
Reviewing the valuation of ADAPT
obtained by management from an
independent expert and the valuation
approach adopted;
Considering the ability to rely on the
work of the independent expert;
Analysing the performance of the cash
generating unit for the period and
comparing
this
with
budget
expectations;
Comparing key assumptions in forecast
cash flows to historical results and,
where these were materially different,
critically reviewing the basis for differing
future expectations;
Critically assessing material inputs into
the recoverable amount assessment;
and
Assessing the appropriateness of the
disclosures included in the relevant
notes to the financial report.
For the intangible assets which relate to
Vaccines, our procedures included but
were not limited to:

-

-

Considering whether the assets
comprising the cash generating unit had
been correctly allocated;
Reviewing the valuation of Vaccines
obtained by management from an
independent expert and the valuation
approach adopted;
Considering the ability to rely on the
work of the independent expert;
Consideration of material assumptions
and calculations such as the implied
equity value and minority discount;
Review of management’s paper in
relation to recoverable amount and
associated agreements; and
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-

Assessing the appropriateness of the
disclosures included in the relevant
notes to the financial report.

Accounting for the debt facility and warrant
(Refer Note 6(f))
Description

Audit Approach

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has a balance
of $832,879 in relation to a warrant.

Our procedures included, but were not
limited to:

This balance arose as a result of the company’s
former borrowing facility which was repaid during the
financial year and, in relation to which, a 7-year
warrant was issued over ordinary shares in the
Company.

-

We considered the accounting for this warrant to be
a key audit matter as there is significant estimation
involved with the valuation of the warrant.

-

-

Review of the key terms of the warrant
agreement entered into;
Review of the independent expert’s
valuation of the warrant at reporting
date to ensure an appropriate
methodology was applied and that the
key inputs were correct;
Considering the ability to rely on the
work of the independent expert;
Ensuring that the warrant has been
correctly
accounted
for
under
accounting standards;
Assessing the appropriateness of the
disclosures included in the relevant
notes to the financial report

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2018, but does
not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives
a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
-

-

-

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on the Remuneration Report
Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included within the directors’ report for the year ended
31 December 2018.
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Admedus Limited for the year ended 31 December
2018 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Responsibilities
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards

HLB Mann Judd
Chartered Accountants

M R Ohm
Partner

Perth, Western Australia
28 February 2019
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Shareholder Information
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 8 March 2019.

Quoted equity securities
589,942,803 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 6,567 individual shareholders.
237,050,764 quoted options are held by 361 individual shareholders.
Unquoted equity securities

Number on issue

Number of holders

Warrants held by MC Management Group, Olbia Pty Ltd, Merrill Lynch
(Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd and Partners For Growth V, L.P

10,568,799

4

Options issued under the Admedus Employee Option Plan to take up
ordinary shares

12,114,215
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Shareholder distribution
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, are:
Range

Total holders

Units

% of issued Capital

1 – 1,000

1,137

539,563

0.09

1,001 – 5,000

1,851

5,058,601

0.86

5,001 - 10,000

948

7,234,138

1.23

10,001 - 100,000

2,084

72,110,119

12.22

100,001 and over

547

505,000,382

85.60

6,567

589,942,803

100.00

Total

Unmarketable parcels

Minimum $ 500.00 parcel at
$ 0.035 per unit

Maximum Parcel Size

Holders

Units

14,286

4,298

17,202,588

85

Admedus January – December 2018

Substantial holders
Name

Number of ordinary shares

Percentage

Star Bright Group

133,453,435

22.62

Sio Capital Management

131,120,851

22.23

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Equity security holders
Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities are:
Ordinary shareholders

Number

Percentage

Constellation Intl Holdings Limited

73,019,140

12.38

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 2

65,117,611

11.04

Constellation Immunotherapy Limited

40,209,208

6.82

National Nominees Limited <DB A/C>

37,322,739

6.33

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited-GSCO ECA

28,900,681

4.90

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited <MLPRO A/C>

24,343,075

4.13

Star Bright Holding Limited

17,367,943

2.94

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited

14,008,250

2.37

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited

6,178,385

1.05

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited

6,079,382

1.03

Mr Patrick Chew

4,040,000

0.68

Bulldog Shale Pty Ltd <Bulldog Shale S Fund A/C>

3,300,000

0.56

Mr Daniel Bernard Clough

3,000,000

0.51

Mr Iain Robert Mcewin + Ms Dianne Church <Through2 Super Fund A/C>

3,000,000

0.51

Carron Services Limited

2,857,144

0.48

Mr Athanasios Farmakis

2,410,000

0.41

Appwam Pty Ltd

2,000,000

0.34

Mr Dale Anthony Reed

2,000,000

0.34

ZCSF Nominees Pty Ltd <Zoeller Superfund A/C>

1,850,485

0.31

Broadscope Pty Ltd <Catlow Family A/C>

1,710,000

0.29

Voting rights
The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below:
1. Ordinary shares: On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person
or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.
2. Options: No voting rights.
3. Warrants: No voting rights.
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Admedus is commited to building
a sustainable business
which will deliver life-changing
outcomes for patients.

87

Toowong Tower, Suite 302,
Level 3, 9 Sherwood Road
Toowong, Queensland 4066
Telephone: +61 1300 550 310
Facsimile: +61 1300 880 398
Website: www.admedus.com
Email: info.au@admedus.com

